

EFFECT OF ENZALUTAMIDE AND miR-26b ON CHEMORESPONSE OF TRIPLE NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER CELLS TOWARD CHEMOTHERAPY

Ph.D. THESIS

Laila ALSAWALHA

Nicosia June, 2022

NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOCHEMISTRY

EFFECT OF ENZALUTAMIDE AND miR-26b ON CHEMORESPONSE OF TRIPLE NEGATIVE BREAST CANCER CELLS TOWARD CHEMOTHERAPY

Ph.D. THESIS

Laila ALSAWALHA

Supervisor Prof. Dr. Özlem DALMIZRAK Co-Advisor Prof. Dr. Mamoun AHRAM

> Nicosia June, 2022

Approval

We certify that we have read the thesis submitted by Laila ALSawalha titled "Effect of Enzalutamide and miR-26b on Chemoresponse of Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells Toward Chemotherapy" and that in our combined opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and in quality, as a thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Biochemistry.

Examining Committee	Name-Surname	Signature
Head of the Committee:	Prof. Dr. Rasime KALKAN	Maltar.
Committee Member*:	Prof. Dr. Semra KOÇTÜRK	Prof. Dr. SEMRA KO
Committee Member*:	Prof. Dr. Özlem DALMIZRAK	<u></u>
Committee Member*:	Assoc. Prof. Dr. Kerem TERALI	. Jenun
Committee Member*:	Assist. Prof. Dr. Duygu RÜSTEM	
Supervisor:	Prof. Dr. Özlem DALMIZRAK	<u></u>
Co-Supervisor: Approved by the Head of the	Prof. Dr. Mamoun AHRAM Department	(aller

al

.14./06../2022

Prof. Dr. Özlem Dalmızrak Head of Department

Approved by the Institute of Graduate Studies

...../2022

Prof. Dr. Kemal Hüsnü Can Başer Head of the Institute

Declaration

I hereby declare that all information, documents, analysis and results in this thesis have been collected and presented according to the academic rules and ethical guidelines of the Institute of Graduate Studies, Near East University. I also declare that as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced information and data that are not original to this study.

lafefo

Laila ALSawalha 14/6/2022

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to praise and thank god, who has given me infinite blessings, help, and guidance.

Then, I would like to express my very great appreciation to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Özlem Dalmızrak, for her patience in guiding and supporting me during all stages of my research journey.

I am particularly grateful to Prof. Dr. Mamoun Ahram for his support, guidance, overall insights, and valuable and constructive suggestions during the planning and development of this research work. His willingness to give his time so generously has been very much appreciated.

My special thanks are extended to the staff of Medical Biochemistry Department. I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Nazmi Özer, Prof. Dr. Hamdi Öğüş and Prof. Dr. Nevbahar Turgan for their help and support in my thesis journey.

I would like to thank the committee members, Prof. Dr. Semra Koçtürk, Prof. Dr. Rasime Kalkan and Associate Prof. Kerem Teralı and Assist. Prof. Duygu Rüstem for their advice and assistance in keeping my progress on schedule.

I would like to offer my special thanks to Prof. Dr. Mamoun Ahram's laboratory staff, especially Mr. Mohammad S. Abdullah, for their assistance in the laboratory technique. Assistance provided by Near East University and The University of Jordan and Cell Therapy Center members was greatly appreciated.

I also owe much gratitude to my parents, brothers and sisters for their unwavering support and prayers.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my beloved husband, Ibrahim Anaqreh, and my three little princesses, Tala, Hala, and Baana, who provide me with constant inspiration and support throughout this journey. Without their unwavering love and encouragement, none of this would have been possible. Thank you for believing in me; I will always be thankful. I am grateful for your presence in my life.

Laila Sawalha

Enzatulamid ve miR-26b'nin Üçlü Negatif Meme Kanseri Hücrelerinin Kemoterapiye Karşı Duyarlılığına Etkisi

Özet

Alsawalha, Laila Doktora, Tıbbi Biyokimya Anabilim Dalı Danışman: Prof. Dr. Özlem Dalmızrak Eş-Danışman: Prof. Dr. Mamoun Ahram

Haziran, 2022, 100 sayfa

Üçlü negatif meme kanseri (TNBC), heterojen karakteri ve tedavi seçeneklerinin bulunmaması nedeniyle tedavisi zor bir kanser türüdür. Sistemik kemoterapi TNBC tedavisi için kullanılmaktadır. Ancak hastalar genellikle uygulanan tedaviye direnç geliştirmektedir. Androjen reseptörü vasıtasıyla gerçekleşen androjen sinyalinin TNBC hücrelerinde direnç gelişiminden sorumlu olduğu bildirilmiştir. Apoptoza direnç ilaç direncinin temel özelliklerinden biridir. Androjenlerin TNBC'deki rolleri iyi bilinmektedir ve androjen reseptörü (AR) sinyali karsinogenezde gün geçtikçe önemli hale gelmektedir. Bu nedenle androjen sinyal yolağını hedeflemek meme kanseri tedavisinde önemli rol oynamaktadır. Bir AR antagonisti olan enzatulamid erken yanıt oluşturmakta, ancak bu yanıtı ilaç direnci ve tümörün nüksü izlemektedir. Enzalutamidin hücre proliferasyonunu azalttığı ve bazı kanser türlerinde hücre ölümünün uyarılması yoluyla anti-tümör etkileri olduğu gösterilmiştir.

Çalışmamızda enzatulamid ve miR-26b'nin apoptoza ve TNBC hücrelerinin doksorubisine karşı olan duyarlılığına olan etkisi araştırılmıştır. MDA-MB-231 ve MDA-MB-453 hücre hatları artan derişimlerde doksorubisine maruz bırakılmış, *IC*₅₀ dozunu belirlemek için hücre canlılığı incelenmiştir. Hücreler dihidrotestosteron (DHT) veya enzalutamid veya her ikisinin kombinasyonu kullanılarak muamele edilmiş ve hücre canlılığı belirlenmiştir. Aynı zamanda hücrelerin DHT ve enzalutamid varlığında doksorubisine karşı yanıtı araştırılmıştır. Hücreler miR-26b ile transfekte edilmiş ve apoptoz için TUNEL yöntemi ve kaspaz 3/7 tayini kullanılarak bu hücre hatlarının tedaviye yanıtları incelenmiştir. Ayrıca apoptoz ile ilişkili genlerin ekspresyonlarındaki değişikliğe de qPCR ile bakılmıştır.

Dihidrotestosteron her iki hücre hattında da doksorubisine karşı direnç gelişimine neden olmaktadır. Buna karşılık, enzalutamid hücre canlılığını ve DHT'nin neden olduğu kemorezistansı azaltarak MDA-MB-231'in doksorubisine karşı duyarlılığını arttırmaktadır. TUNEL yöntemi sonuçları enzalutamidin MDA-MB-231 ve MDA-MB 453 hücrelerini doksorubisine duyarlı hale getirdiğini, apoptozu arttırarak DHT'nin neden olduğu kemorezistansın üstesinden geldiğini ortaya koymaktadır. Ayrıca, kaspaz 3/7 aktivitesini de arttırmaktadır. mcl1 gen ekspresyonunun düzenlenmesi, DHT ve enzalutamidin her iki hücre hattının kemoyanıtı üzerindeki androjenik etkiyi modüle ettiği bir mekanizma gibi görünmektedir. bcl2 ve bid genlerinin düzenlenmesi yalnızca MDA-MB-453 hücreleri için geçerlidir. Bu veriler, enzalutamidin potansiyel bir ortak terapötik yaklaşım olabileceğini düşündürmektedir. miR-26b'nin yalnızca MDA-MB-453 hücrelerinde doksorubisine karşı duyarlılığı arttırdığı, DHT ile oluşmuş olan direncin üstesinden geldiği ve kaspaz 3/7 aktivitesini arttırdığı gözlemlenmiştir. Hücre hatlarının miR-26b ile transfeksiyonu hücre canlılığını etkilemezken MDA-MB-453 hücrelerinde doksorubisine duyarlılığı arttırmaktadır. miR-26b yalnızca MDA-MB-453 hücrelerinde bazı anti-apoptotik genlerin (mcl1 ve bcl2) ekspresyonunu azaltmakta ve *bid* ifadelenmesini arttırmaktadır.

Bulgular enzalutamidin doksorubisin tarafından indüklenen apoptozu artırarak DHT'nin neden olduğu kemorezistansı azaltmada her iki hücre hattında da etkili olduğunu ortaya koymaktadır. Ayrıca miR-26b'nin apoptozu indükleyerek DHT'nin neden olduğu direncin üstesinden gelme potansiyeline sahip olduğunu göstermektedir.

Anahtar Kelimeler: üçlü negatif meme kanseri, enzatulamid, apoptoz, doksorubisin, miR-26b

Abstract

Effect of Enzalutamide and miR-26b on Chemoresponse of Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells Toward Chemotherapy

Alsawalha, Laila PhD, Department of Medical Biochemistry Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Özlem Dalmızrak Co-supervisor: Prof. Dr Mamoun Ahram

June, 2022, 100 pages

Due to its heterogeneity and lack of therapeutic options, triple-negative breast cancer is challenging to treat. As a result, systemic chemotherapy remains as the treatment of choice for TNBC. Chemoresistance is unfortunately widespread among patients. Androgen signaling via its receptor is essential in breast cancer since it has been demonstrated to provide chemoresistance to TNBC cells. Resistance to apoptosis is one of the essential features of drug resistance. Androgens are well known for their role in TNBC, and therefore, androgen receptor (AR) signaling is becoming critical and an essential contributor to carcinogenesis. Therefore, targeting the androgen signal pathway plays an essential role in breast cancer treatment. The androgen receptor (AR) antagonist, enzalutamide, produces an early response, followed by drug resistance and tumor recur. Enzalutamide has been shown to affect cancer cell viability and has anti-tumour effects by inducing apoptosis in certain types of cancer. We also used miR-26b to understand its contribution to apoptosis and role in sensitizing TNBC toward doxorubicin.

MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cell lines were treated with different concentrations of doxorubicin; the cell viability was examined to determine the IC_{50} dose. Cell viability after treatment with DHT or enzalutamide or its combination was investigated. Transfection of cells with miR-26b mimic was followed by qPCR to quantify relative expression. Then the effects of miR-26b on chemoresponse of breast cancer cells were investigated while TUNEL assay technique was used to detect late stages of apoptosis, followed by caspase-glo 3/7 assay. Changes in the expression of apoptosis-related genes were quantified by qPCR.

DHT increases the chemoresistance of both cell lines toward doxorubicin. In contrast, enzalutamide increases the sensitivity of MDA-MB-231 toward doxorubicin by decreasing cell viability and reducing the chemoresistance caused by DHT. TUNEL assay results revealed that enzalutamide sensitizes both cell lines; by increasing apoptosis induced by doxorubicin and overcoming the chemoresistance caused by DHT. Moreover, it increases Casp 3/7 activity. Regulation of the mcl1 gene expression appears to be a mechanism by which DHT and enzalutamide modulate the androgenic effect on the chemoresponse of both cell lines. The regulation of *bcl2* and *bid* genes may also be relevant in MDA-MB-453 cells only. These findings imply that enzalutamide might be used as a co-therapeutic agent to target cell-specific TNBC. We found that miR-26b mimics increased cell sensitivity toward doxorubicin in MDA-MB-453 cells but not in MDA-MB-231 cells, overcoming the chemoresistance caused by DHT and increasing the caspase 3/7activity. Transfection of MDA-MB-453 cell lines with miR-26b affects cell viability non significantly and increases chemosensitivity toward doxorubicin, but not in MDA-MB-231 cells. Gene expression of some antiapoptosis genes revealed that miR-26b downregulated mcl1 and bcl2 in MDA-MB-453 cells only and increased *bid* expression, thus how miR-26b induces apoptosis in combination with dox through *mcl1*, *bcl2* axis.

Our findings show that enzalutamide can reduce DHT-induced chemoresistance by enhancing apoptosis produced by doxorubicin in both cell lines; also, miR-26b mimic has the potential to overcome resistance caused by DHT through induction of apoptosis.

Key Words: triple negative breast cancer, enzatulamide, apoptosis, doxorubicin, miR-26b

Table of Contents

ApprovalI
DeclarationII
Acknowledgements III
ÖzetIV
AbstractVI
List of FiguresXII
List of TablesXIV
List of Abbreviations XV
CHAPTER I1
Introduction
Background 1
Statement of the Problem
Research Questions/Hypotheses
The Intended Outcome of the Thesis/Significance
Limitations
Definition of Terms
CHAPTER II
General Information
Breast Cancer
Luminal Subtypes7
HER2-Enriched7
Triple-Negative7
Androgen Signaling in Breast Tissue
Androgen Sources and Synthesis in Females
Role of Androgen Receptor in Breast Cancer
Androgen Receptor Structure10

Androgen Receptor Mechanism of Action	3
Role of Androgens in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer	5
Targeting Androgen Receptor as a Therapy 17	7
Drug Resistance	9
microRNA	3
miRNA Role in Breast Cancer	5
miRNA and Drug Resistance in Cancer26	6
CHAPTER III	8
Materials and Methods	8
Experimental Design	8
Experiment Model	8
Preparation of Solutions	9
Preparation of Dihydrotestosterone	9
Preparation of Enzalutamide	9
Preparation of Doxorubicin	9
Preparation of Culture Medium for Cell Lines	0
Methods	0
Optimization and Cell Passage	0
Cell Counting	1
Cell Viability	1
Transfection	2
Gene Expression Analysis	2
RNA Isolation, cDNA Synthesis and Quantitative PCR Analysis	2
Caspase 3/7 Glo Assay	4
TUNEL Assay	4
CHAPTER IV	б
Results	5

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on Cell Morphology
The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Proliferation of MDA-
MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells
Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells Toward Doxorubicin in
Combination with Dihydrotestosterone and Enzatulamide
The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Late Stages of
Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis
The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Caspase 3/7 Activity 43
The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Expression of the
Apoptosis-Related Genes
Determination of the Effectiveness of miR-26b Transfection
The Effect of miR-26b Transfection on the Proliferation and Chemosensitivity of
MDA-MB-231 Cells
The Effect of miR-26b Transfection on the Proliferation and Chemosensitivity of
MDA-MB-453 Cells
The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Caspase 3/7 Activity in MDA-MB-231 and
MDA-MB-453 Cells
The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Late Stages of Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis
The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Expression of the Apoptosis-Regulatory Genes
The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on miR-26b Levels in MDA-
MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells
CHAPTER V
Discussion
CHAPTER VI
Conclusions
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

Appendix A	77
Appendix B	
Appendix C	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Molecular Subtypes of Dieast Cancer
Figure 2. Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Subtypes
Figure 3. Androgen Synthesis in Females10
Figure 4. Androgen Receptor (AR) Structure
Figure 5. Androgen Receptor Genomic Pathway14
Figure 6. Androgen Receptor Antagonist Enzalutamide: Mechanism of Action18
Figure 7. Mechanisms of Drug Resistance in Breast Cancer20
Figure 8. Apoptosis: Extrinsic and Intrinsic Pathways
Figure 9. miRNA Biogenesis
Figure 10. Experiment Workflow
Figure 11. The Effect of DHT Treatment on the Morphology of MDA-MB-231 Cells
Figure 12. The Effect of DHT Treatment on the Morphology of MDA-MB-453 Cells
Figure 13. The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on the Proliferation of MDA-MB- 231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells
Eigure 14 DUT and Engeluterride Affect the Chamoreneous of MDA MD 221 Calls
toward Doxorubicin
Figure 14. DHT and Enzalutanide Affect the Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 Cens toward Doxorubicin
Figure 14. DHT and Enzalutaninde Affect the Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 Cells toward Doxorubicin

Figure 18. The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on the Activity of Caspase 3/7 in the
Presence or Absence of Doxorubicin in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453
Cells43
Figure 19. The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on the Expression of mcl1, bcl2 and
<i>bid</i> in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells44
Figure 20. The Effect of Transfection on the Expression level of miR-26b in-MDA-
MB-231 cells and MDA-MB-453 cells45
Figure 21. The Effect of miR-26b on Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 Cells to
Doxorubicin
Figure 22. The Effect of miR-26b on Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-453 Cells to
Doxorubicin
Figure 23. The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Caspase 3/7 Activity in MDA-MB-
231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells
Figure 24. The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on DNA Degradation Detected by TUNEL
Assay in MDA-MB-231 Cells48
Figure 25. The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on DNA Degradation Detected by TUNEL
Assay in MDA-MB-453 Cells
Figure 26. The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Expression of mcl1, bcl2 and bid in
MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells50
Figure 27.The Effect of DHT, Enzalutamide and its Combination on the Expression
Level of miR-26b51
Figure 28. Summary of the Effect of DHT, Enzalutamide and miR-26b on
Apoptosis

Table 1. Culture Media and Its Components	30
Table 2. Cryopreservation Media Preparation	30
Table 3. Reverse Transcription Reaction Components	33

List of Abbreviations

3'-UTR	3' Untranslated region
3-HSD	3-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
A4	Androstenedione
ABC	ATP binding cassettes
ADT	Androgen deprivation therapy
AF-1	Activation function 1
AF-2	Activation function 2
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Apaf-1	Apoptosis activating factor
AR	Androgen receptor
ARA70	Androgen receptor associated protein 70
ARE	Androgen response elements
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bak	BCL2 antagonist/killer 1
Bax	BCL2 associated X
BC	Breast cancer
BCL2	B-cell lymphoma 2
CAMK2N1	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II inhibitor 1
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine-3,5-monophosphate
CBP	CREB-46 binding protein
CBR	Clinical benefit rate
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
CSC	Cancer stem cell
Ct	Threshold cycle
DBD	DNA binding domain
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
DHEAS	Dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate

DHT	5a-dihydrotestosterone
DISC	Death-inducing signaling complex
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
Dox	Doxorubicin
E2	Estradiol
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ER	Estrogen receptor
FADD	Fas-related death domain
FasL	Fas ligand
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GPER	G-protein coupled estrogen receptor
GR	Glucocorticoid receptor
HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor-like receptor 2
HSD	Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase
IAP	Inhibitor of apoptosis proteins
<i>IC</i> 50	The half-maximal inhibitory concentration
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
kD	Kilodaltons
LAR	Luminal androgen receptor
LBD	Ligand binding domain
MCL1	Myeloid cell leukemia
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MOMP	Mitochondrial outer membrane permeability
MPA	Medroxyprogesterone acetate
miRNA	Micro ribonucleic acid
mRNAs	Messenger ribonucleic acid
mtOXPHOS	Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation
ncRNA	Non-coding RNA
NGFR	Nerve growth factor receptor
NLS	Nuclear localisation signal

NTD	N terminal domain
PARP	Poly ADP ribose polymerase 1
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
PR	Progesterone receptor
Pre-MiRNA	Precursor miRNA
Pri-miRNA	Primary miRNA
qPCR	Quantitative real time-polymerase chain reaction
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SHBG	Sex hormone binding globulin
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
TAU	Transactivation units
TFIIF	Transcription factor IIF
TFBP	TATA box-binding protein
TNBC	Triple-negative breast cancer
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-dependent apoptosis-inducing ligand
TRNC	Turkish Republic of North Cyprus
TSS	Transcription start site
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end
	labelling
WHO	World Health Organization
Wnt	Wingless-type
XIAP	X-Linked inhibitor of apoptosis

CHAPTER I Introduction

Background

Breast cancer is the most frequent cancer in women worldwide (Ferlay et al., 2019). Despite advances in treating the disease, it remains a significant health burden. Approximately two-thirds of breast cancer patients are positive for hormone receptors such as estrogen and progesterone. Both estrogen and progesterone lead to the growth and progression of breast cancer; hence, blocking their synthesis or targeting their receptors has proven to be an effective therapeutic strategy (Matutino et al., 2018). A targeted therapy approach is also taken into consideration to treat another breast cancer type, defined by human epidermal growth factor 2 amplification, termed HER2-enriched. Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC), on the other hand, is negative for the three receptors. TNBCs account for approximately 10-15% of breast cancers, and compared to other subtypes, they have the lowest 5-year survival rate, owing to the lacking of a therapeutic target and high heterogeneity (Bauer et al., 2007; Barton et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2015).

Many factors are associated with breast cancer prognosis, such as age, radiation exposure, family history, and lifestyle (Vuong et al., 2014a). Therefore, cancer research has gained attention globally. Despite significant progress in understanding the molecular basis of cancer, there are still some cancers for which there is no definite therapy. Surgery, hormone therapy, anti-angiogenic therapy, immunotherapy, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy are the primary treatment approaches currently being used worldwide.

The significance of sex steroid hormones and their receptors in the development and growth of breast cancer is significant. It is well defined that estrogen and estrogen receptors affect the signaling pathways of breast cancers (Matutino et al., 2018). However, little is known about the involvement of androgen and androgen receptors in breast cancers and the precise processes through which androgen functions. The significance of androgen in breast cancer signaling is hypothesized to vary between estrogen-rich and estrogen-replete environments. Considering these differences, innovative prospects for preventing or rehabilitating breast cancer progression have emerged. Androgens are the essential precursors to estrogens; the enzyme, aromatase, converts testosterone to estradiol and the androstenedione to the estrone. Peripheral androgen precursors produce 50%

testosterone, though ovaries and adrenal glands provide 25%. Unlike estrogens, the levels of circulating androgens do not drop as precipitously after menopause, making androgens the dominant sex hormone in aged women (Labrie et al., 2003). Circulating androgens have been associated to an increased risk of breast cancer in postmenopausal women, suggesting that they might be used as indirect indicators of hormonal signaling in the breast (Risbridger et al., 2010).

MicroRNAs (miRNAs or miRs) are 20–25 nucleotide long, single-stranded non-coding RNAs highly conserved across species (Gao & Liu, 2011). miRNAs' main function is post-transcriptional gene silencing by base-pairing their conserved 5'-heptameric seed sequence with the 3'untranslated region (3'-UTR) of mRNAs (Liu, 2012). It has been shown that each type of tumor has a relatively unique miRNA expression profile and that the same type of miRNA can vary between types of tumors (Sahlberg et al., 2015). Many studies have shown that miRNAs are required for the onset, development, and promotion of numerous human malignancies (Garzon et al., 2009). miRNAs have been identified to have oncogenic and tumour suppressor activities (Sabit et al., 2021). During breast cancer progression, several molecular modifications tend to occur. Differential expression of various miRNAs is one of these modifications. Previous studies have clarified the ability to differentiate different cancer types, diagnoses and prognoses related to miRNA expression (Lu et al., 2005).

Androgen has also been shown to control the expression of particular miRNAs. In a recent study, Ahram and his colleagues revealed that more than two folds had modified the expression of 33 miRNAs in MDA-MB-231 TNBCs (Al-Othman et al., 2020).

Targeting the androgen receptor alone or in combination with other therapies is a viable therapeutic strategy for treating patients with prostate cancer. This suggests that targeting androgens and androgen signaling in other cancer types may also be useful.

Few studies have examined the effect of DHT on the chemoresponse in TNBC. Al-Momany and colleagues reported that DHT induces chemoresistance in MDA-MB-231 cells (Al-Momany et al., 2021). However, the mechanism by which androgen receptor (AR) activation leads to chemoresistance and the effect of enzalutamide in reducing chemoresistance have to be elucidated. This work aims to understand the mechanistic effect of enzalutamide and the AR-responsive microRNA, miR-26b, in sensitising TNBC cells to doxorubicin.

Statement of the Problem

Diagnostic and characterization challenges make it more difficult to treat TNBCs and their subgroups. This demands the identification of new targets that may also play regulatory roles in breast cancer therapy; till now, it is unknown whether inhibition or stimulation of androgen activity in TNBC patients achieve therapeutic benefits. This study aimed to investigate the effect of enzalutamide on chemoresponse of TNBC and investigate a mechanistic relationship with miR-26b.

Research Questions/Hypotheses

Hypothesis: Dihydrotestosterone, enzalutamide and miR-26b modulate the sensitivity of TNBC cells towards doxorubicin through the apoptosis pathway.

Alternative Hypothesis: Dihydrotestosterone, enzalutamide and miR-26b do not affect the sensitivity of TNBC cells towards doxorubicin through the apoptosis pathway.

The Intended Outcome of the Thesis/Significance

- Study the effect of DHT, enzalutamide and their combinations on the chemoresponse of TNBC toward doxorubicin.
- Examine the effect of DHT, enzalutamide and their combinations on apoptosis in TNBC cells through the alteration of apoptotic protein expression, DNA degradation and caspase 3/7 activity.
- Examine the chemoresponse of TNBC cells transfected with miR-26b mimic or antisense alone or in combinations with DHT and enzalutamide.
- Examine the effect of transfection with miR-26 mimic or anti-sense on doxorubicin-induced apoptosis in TNBC cells through the alteration of apoptotic protein expression, DNA degradation, and caspase3/7 activity.
- The knowledge gained from this project may help to improve novel approaches to breast cancer prevention and treatment.

Limitations

- The effects of DHT, enzalutamide, and miR-26b on the chemosensitivity of other TNBC cell lines besides MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 should be investigated.
- Further signaling pathways showing the effect of DHT, enzalutamide and miR-26b on TNBC cells should be elucidated.

Definition of Terms

Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: This term refers to breast cancer cells that are differentiated by the absence of three types of receptors on their surface (estrogen, progesterone and HER-2 receptor).

A microRNA is a short, single-stranded, non-coding RNA that functions in RNA silencing and post-transcriptional gene regulation.

Androgens are androgenic steroids that promote the development of sexual organs and secondary sexual traits in males. Androgens are synthesized in the testes and by the adrenal gland in smaller amounts. Female androgens are produced in lower amounts, mainly in the adrenal glands and the ovaries, and they play an essential role in the hormonal regulation that begins with puberty and regulate body functions. Androgens are necessary for the synthesis of estrogen in adult women and for the prevention of bone loss.

Dihydrotestosterone is the most prevalent androgen found in the testes and the most potent androgen *in vivo* and *in vitro*. In breast tissue, testosterone is converted to dihydrotestosterone by $5-\alpha$ -reductase or to 17-estradiol by aromatase and can act as an androgen or estrogen agonist.

Androgen Receptor is a type of protein that binds to androgens and is present mainly in male reproductive organs and in specific cancer cells that respond to androgen, and in certain types of breast cancer cells.

Androgen Antagonist is a natural or synthetic substance that competes for androgen receptor binding sites and counteracts the effects of testosterone and DHT. In this study, enzalutamide was used as a synthetic androgen antagonist.

Chemoresponse is how cancer cells respond to chemotherapeutic drugs; although many tumors are initially responsive to chemotherapy, they can develop resistance through several pathways over time.

Apoptosis is a biological phenomenon observed in multicellular organisms. It is a highly regulated biochemical and genetic mechanism that plays an important role in proper tissue growth, homeostasis and death. The distinct cell modifications (morphology), dense cytoplasm, tightly packed organelles, cell shrinkage, nuclear fragmentation, chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, and mRNA degradation are the most characteristic features of apoptosis. Defective apoptotic mechanisms have been linked to a wide range of diseases. Inadequate apoptosis results in uncontrolled cell growth, which is considered one of the hallmarks of cancer.

CHAPTER II

General Information

Breast Cancer

Cancer, in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC) as well as in the world, is the leading cause of mortality after heart disease, and its incidence is increasing (Pervaiz et al., 2018). Breast cancer incidence among females increases globally. The global cancer percentages are expected to increase by 70% in the next two decades if preventive measures are not implemented; according to the most recent data from the World Health Organization (WHO), 2.3 million women worldwide have breast cancer, causing 685 000 death (Torre et al., 2015).

The genetic heterogeneity of breast cancers is well known. This heterogeneity is based on examining the alterations of gene expression that drive cancer, such as a change in the expression of specific receptors HER2, progesterone receptor, and estrogen receptor (Vuong et al., 2014b). At the molecular level, five significant subtypes of breast cancer have been identified: luminal A and B, HER2 overexpressed, normal-like and triple-negative breast cancers (Prat et al., 2015). Details of the major molecular subtypes of breast cancer are listed in Figure 1.

Figure 1

Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer, Determined By Gene Expression Profiling (Prat et al., 2015; Vuong et al., 2014) (Created with biorender.com)



Luminal Subtypes

Luminal subtypes can be divided into two subtypes:

Luminal A is low-grade, develops slowly and has the best prognosis. Luminal A breast cancer has hormone receptors but lacks HER2. It contains low levels of ki-67 protein, which helps to restrain how quickly cancer cells develop (Guedj et al., 2012).

Luminal B is hormone receptor-positive and has a high ki-67 level. The luminal B subtype has a significantly worse prognosis with a high proliferation rate (Provenzano et al., 2018).

HER2-Enriched

The HER-2 receptor is a tyrosine kinase receptor located in the cell membrane and plays a role in the signaling pathways that lead to cell differentiation and proliferation. HER2-enriched cancers grow faster than luminal tumours and have a poorer prognosis. They are negative for both the progesterone and estrogen receptors (Vuong et al., 2014b). They are often treated with targeted therapies for the HER2 protein, such as transtuzumab/deruxtecan (Gompel & Plu-Bureau, 2018).

Triple-Negative

Triple-negative breast cancer is distinguished by the lack of expressions of the hormone receptors, progesterone and estrogen receptor, and the HER2 (Bai et al., 2021). Lack of those receptors results in the ineffectiveness of various hormone therapies, extensive resistance (30–50%) and a poor prognosis (Dent et al., 2007).

The revelation of TNBC heterogeneity and molecular subtyping represent a significant milestone in the treatment of TNBC. In 2011, Lehmann et al. first suggested six molecular subgroups based on 587 TNBC patients from 21 data sets. These molecular subtypes included basal-like types 1 and 2, mesenchymal, mesenchymal stem-like, immunomodulatory, and luminal androgen receptor positive (LAR) (Lehmann et al., 2011). Luminal androgen receptor-positive (LAR) tumors compared to other TNBC subtypes, have more than ten-fold AR expression and are enriched for hormone-regulated pathway genes; genes involved in steroid production, porphyrin metabolism, and androgen/estrogen metabolism were found. A luminal gene expression profile is defined by AR's most highly expressed genes downstream (Doane et al., 2006; Lehmann et al., 2011). The gene expression profile

was significantly linked with the LAR subtype when tumors were chosen based on histological apocrine traits demonstrating that the LAR TNBC group comprises cancers categorized with molecular apocrine histology (Lehmann et al., 2011). Androgen receptor is one such useful marker and target for TNBC treatment. Based on genomic and transcriptome data from 465 Chinese patients, Jiang et al. hypothesized four molecular categories (Jiang et al., 2019); nonetheless, there is no uniformity in the biomarker selection for each subtype (Tang et al., 2014), making it impossible to compare distinct subtypes across investigations. With such variability, lack of focused therapy, decreased chemosensitivity and poor prognosis; it is critical to have distinct biomarkers, which may assist in discriminating different TNBCs and may provide novel therapeutic targets. Figure 2 illustrates TNBC subtypes.

Figure 2





Androgen Signaling in Breast Tissue

Androgen Sources and Synthesis in Females

Androgens are steroid hormones generated from cholesterol that are responsible for developing and maintaining sexual characteristic (Gelmann, 2002). Female androgens play vital physiological roles such as regulating mammary gland development and serving as precursors to estrogen production (Ahmad & Kumar, 2011). In women, androgens are primarily responsible for initiating the hormonal cascade during puberty, regulating bodily processes prior to, during, and after menopause, and further have an anabolic function in maintaining the functioning of a variety of other organs, such as the bones, kidneys, liver, and muscles (Liao, 2007).

The five main androgens found in the circulation given in descending order of serum concentration are: dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate (DHEAS), dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA), androstenedione (A4), testosterone, and $5-\alpha$ -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) (McFarlane et al., 2018)

In females, androgen production occurs mainly in the ovaries and adrenal glands (Figure 3); although it can also occur in peripheral organs via enzymatic conversions, the ovaries and adrenal glands synthesize androgens from cholesterol (Finlay-Schultz & Sartorius, 2015). They are then delivered through the circulation attached to serum sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) or albumin to their respective target tissues, exhibiting tissue-specific effects. The enzyme $5-\alpha$ -reductase can convert testosterone to the more potent form, dihydrotestosterone (DHT), which can bind to the androgen receptor with a 2-fold greater affinity and with a 5-fold lower dissociation rate when compared to testosterone (Cochrane et al., 2014).

The enzyme 5- α -reductase have two isoforms, 5-R1 and 2-R1 isozymes are NADPH-dependent, membrane-associated enzymes profoundly buried in the lipid bilayer with molecular weights of 29.5 and 28.4 kilodaltons, respectively. They have high numbers of hydrophobic amino acids in their sequences, indicating that they are intrinsic membrane proteins (Langlois et al., 2010; Russell & Wilson, 1994; Suzuki et al., 2001).

In women, about 66 percent of total circulating testosterone is bound to SHBG, and changes in SHBG levels substantially influence free testosterone levels in the blood. SHBG increases by elevated levels of E2 and thyroxine, whereas growth hormone, insulin like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), androgens, prolactin, and obesity inhibit SHBG (Santos & Schulze, 2012). The adrenal glands primarily release the steroid precursors, DHEA and DHEAS, which are metabolized to androstenedione in peripheral tissues by 3-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3-HSD) and eventually to testosterone via 17-HSD. Androgens generated in peripheral tissues mostly exert local (intracrine) activities within the place of synthesis, with just a little quantity secreted into circulation. As a result, serum androgen levels are not always predictive of bioactivity in target tissues (Labrie et al., 2003). *In vivo* and *in vitro*, dihydrotestosterone is more potent than testosterone (Hickey et al., 2012). Different studies have shown that in the absence of estrogen, testosterone is converted to estrogen (E2) but is preferentially metabolized into DHT when both hormones are present at normal levels, limiting the E2-induced effects (Labrie et al., 2003). The maintenance of this equilibrium supports the physiological response of the mammary gland based on hormonal requirements and menopausal state (Zhou et al., 2000).

Figure 3



Androgen Synthesis in Females (adapted from (Burger & Johnson, 2005))

Role of Androgen Receptor in Breast Cancer

Androgen Receptor Structure

The androgen receptor (AR) is a member of the nuclear receptor superfamily. The estrogen receptor (ER), glucocorticoid receptor (GR), progesterone receptor (PR), and mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) are all steroid hormone receptors (Porter et al., 2019).

Androgens' biological effect is mediated by binding to the androgen receptor (AR), a ligand-inducible nuclear receptor superfamily transcription factor. The

androgen receptor is encoded by a single copy gene (>90 kb) on the X chromosome at Xq11-12 (Tilley et al., 1989). The androgen receptor coding sequence consists of 8 exons that create a protein of around 917 amino acids with a molecular weight of approximately 98.8 kD, depending on the size of two polymorphic microsatellite regions in exon 1 of the AR gene. AR, like other members of the nuclear receptor superfamily, has a modular structure with three main domains as in Figure 4; the amino-terminal domain (NTD), the DNA binding domain (DBD), and the ligandbinding domain (LBD). The C-terminal of LBD connected to DBD by a flexible hinge region (Brinkmann et al., 1989). Whereas the DBD and LBD have a highly organized canonical structure that is conserved across species, the NTD and hinge regions have undergone substantial divergence over evolution, allowing for varied homeostatic regulation and complexity of AR signaling among organisms (Heemers & Tindall, 2007). The three domains are all necessary for receptor function. The highly conserved DBD binds directly to the promoter and enhancer regions of ARregulated genes, allowing the NTD and LBD activation to increase the transcription of these genes. The androgen receptor's main activity, known as activation function 1 (AF-1), is present in the NTD. A constitutively active AR is generated when the LBD and AF-1 are no longer connected. It has been demonstrated that the LBD interacts with two motifs in the NTD of androgen receptor, namely 23-FQNLF-27 and 433-WHTLF-473. This results in an NH2-COOH terminal intra- or intermolecular androgen receptor interaction, which has been proposed to be significant for the transcriptional activity of some, but not all androgen receptor target genes. AF-1 is highly modular, including two transactivation units (TAUs) that function in transcriptional activation, TAU 1 and TAU 5. When activated by basal transcription factors such as TFIIF, the AF-1 domain undergoes induced folding, resulting in a more compact and active configuration that allows for additional coregulator recruitment and transcription (van Steensel et al., 1995; Yu et al., 2020). Furthermore, the NTD contains a variable number of homopolymeric repeats, the most prominent of which is a polyglutamine repeat that varies from 8 to 31 repetitions in normal individuals, with an average length of 20 repeats (Yu et al., 2020). However, amino acid changes in the AF-1 domain have been identified in individuals with androgen insensitivity, highlighting the significance of this area in the full-length AR's activity (Davey & Grossmann, 2016; Heinlein & Chang, 2002).

The DBD of the androgen receptor is a cysteine-rich region that is substantially conserved within steroid hormone receptors (van Steensel et al., 1995). The DBD has two zinc finger motifs, each composed of four cysteine residues containing a zinc ion (Tilley et al., 1989). A conserved amino acid motif (P-Box) within the first zinc finger drives AR binding to androgen response elements (AREs), which are inverted hexameric DNA half-sites separated by three base pairs (e.g. CCAGAACATCAAGAACAC) in target gene regulatory regions. The second zinc finger, which contains the D-box motif, stabilizes the DNA-bound receptor complex and facilitates AR dimerization (Claessens et al., 2008; Davey & Grossmann, 2016; Ueda et al., 2002).

Figure 4

Androgen Receptor (AR) Structure (adapted from (Davey & Grossmann, 2016))



In contrast, the LBD's activation function 2 (AF-2), a hydrophobic surface consisting of helices 3, 4, and 12, is ligand-dependent (Tan et al., 2015). The LBD promotes AR's high-affinity binding to its natural androgenic ligands DHT and testosterone ($K_d = 0.2-0.5$ nM) and synthetic androgens like R1881 ($K_d = 0.6$ nM) (Chmelar et al., 2007). AF-2 is crucial in the interaction between AR and coregulators that include the LxxLL motif, and mutation of this area has been

reported to diminish ligand-dependent AR activation significantly (Heemers & Tindall, 2007).

Androgen Receptor Mechanism of Action

Many factors determine the mechanism of androgen actions. The kind of target cell, the position of the receptor inside cells, and the ligand itself affect the steroid-induced signal's nature (genomic versus non-genomic). The role of AR in the development of breast cancer is complex, where it can perform its actions at the genomic level as a ligand-dependent transcription factor through the regulation of gene expression. It can function in the non-genomic signaling pathways by suppressing G-protein receptor signaling in TNBC (Shen et al., 2018).

Genomic or "Canonical" AR Signaling. The AR is a large multi-protein complex found primarily in the cytoplasm of cells when its ligand is not present. This complex is made up of the receptor protein, heat shock proteins, co-chaperones, and cytoskeletal proteins, which preserve the AR's structural stability and keep it in an inactive state. After ligand binding, AR assumes an active conformation that makes it easier for chaperones to break up, N/C termini to connect, the NLS to be exposed, and AR to go into the nucleus (Davey & Grossmann, 2016). AR binds to AREs in the promoter and enhancer regions more easily after forming a homo-dimer (two AR proteins linked together) in the nucleus (Figure 5). Binding to DNA might not be restricted to loci with traditional AREs. The lack of AREs at 16-22% of AR-DNA binding locations in previous genome-wide profiling studies may indicate that AR is linked to other components bound to DNA (Heinlein & Chang, 2002); it was believed that AR mostly bound to target gene promoters before the discovery of ChIP-seq technology to characterize genome-wide DNA binding patterns. The majority of AR binding sites, however, were more than 10 kb away from the target genes' transcription start site (TSS), according to ChIP-seq analysis (Massie et al., 2007). As a result, AR binding to enhancer sites is the current paradigm. The recruitment of the basic transcription machinery, such as transcription factor TATA box-binding protein (TFBP), is made possible by AR-DNA binding. As well as other regulators like CREB and transcription factor IIF (TFIIF) and other regulators like CREB-46 binding protein (CBP), transcription-activated p300, and AR-binding protein 70 (ARA70) can all be recruited to AR by AR-DNA binding. Enhancer

locations are often far from the gene promoters where AR binds; however, AR interacts with gene promoters at these sites through looping chromatin. Wang and colleagues demonstrated that RNA-polymerase II travels around a large DNA loop created by the enhancers and promoters of AR target genes. The transcription of AR target genes then proceeds via RNA-polymerase II. Free AR is then transferred back to the cytoplasm after completing their transcriptional activity (Wang et al., 2007).

Figure 5

Androgen Receptor Genomic Pathway (created with biorender.com)



Non-Genomic AR Signaling. Non-genomic effect of AR may be mediated by direct binding to a target molecule's specific binding site in the absence of an AR or by activating a specific non-classical intracellular transmembrane receptor, such as the transmembrane G-protein coupled receptor, or by alterations in membrane fluidity transport. The physiologic levels of 17b-estradiol have been shown to raise the uterine cyclic adenosine-3,5-monophosphate (cAMP) content in ovariectomized mice within 15s (Fiocchetti et al., 2012). According to Koenig and colleagues, the mouse kidney cortex responds quickly (within 1 minute) to physiological amounts of testosterone (1–

10 nM) by stimulating endocytosis, amino acid transport, and hexose transport. Ornithine decarboxylase activity and polyamine concentration increased quickly and momentarily in response to testosterone. Ca^{2+} flux and Ca^{2+} -dependent membrane transport were acutely stimulated (Koenig et al., 1983).

Role of Androgens in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer

A substantial proportion of TNBC patients (12-55%) express the androgen receptor (AR) (Guedj et al., 2012; D'Amato et al., 2016). This suggests that AR may have a role in the biology of TNBC, including progression and response to treatment. According to preclinical findings, AR-positive TNBCs may rely on AR signaling to proliferate (Tran et al., 2009). In addition, TNBCs that express AR have worse chemotherapeutic sensitivity and lower complete remission rates following neoadjuvant treatment (Guedj et al., 2012). MDA-MB-453, which was demonstrated to be growth-stimulated by DHT is the most widely used model of molecular apocrine breast cancer. The idea that AR signaling may play an oncogenic role in molecular apocrine breast cancers is supported by subsequent studies using this cell line in vitro (Doane et al., 2006; Naderi & Hughes-Davies, 2008; Cochrane et al., 2014); and *in vivo* (Cochrane et al., 2014; Feng et al., 2017). Similar to this, it has been demonstrated that androgens promote the *in vitro* proliferation of several, less popular cancer cell line models, such as HCC202, SUM190, and SUM185PE (Naderi & Hughes-Davies, 2008). Contrary to these results, research by Wang et al. revealed that DHT inhibits MDA-MB-453 cell proliferation, whereas AR knockdown by siRNA increases cell growth (Wang et al., 2013; Feng et al., 2017); these results on proliferation may differ from those of the others ascribed to their different experimental setups that might influence AR activity, such as the circumstances of cell culture (especially the nature of the medium and fetal bovine serum type), the kind of AR ligand utilized, the timing, treatment dose regimens. However, owing to inadequate technique, Wang et al. reported that it is difficult to pinpoint the causes of this disparity (Wang et al., 2013).

Divergent proliferative effects of androgens on various AR-positive breast cancer cell line models likely reflect the disease's fundamental heterogeneity and imply that not all patients would benefit from decreased AR activity treatments. The inconsistent outcomes of clinical studies using androgen deprivation treatment (ADT) in women with molecular apocrine breast tumors provide more evidence (Bonnefoi et al., 2016; Traina et al., 2018). These clinical investigations had mixed findings; while 25% of patients demonstrated clinical improvement, including some lasting responses, most patients did not (Jiang et al., 2016). Additionally, in these trials, AR expression did not predict the outcome.

A recent study found that treatment of TNBC with DHT increases breast cancer cell growth while inhibiting apoptosis in vitro (Zhu et al., 2016). Similarly, reactivated AR improves the viability of MDA-MB-231 xenografts in vivo. On the other hand, bicalutamide, the AR antagonist, induced apoptosis and inhibited breast cancer progression (Dong & Alahari, 2020). Furthermore, DHT-dependent AR activation is implicated in regulating cell cycle genes such as p21, p73 and cyclin D1. Some of these genes are tumour suppressors, such as cyclin-dependent kinases (CDK) p21, which prevents cell division by inducing cell cycle arrest, and downregulation of p21 is common in breast cancer (Bachman et al., 2004). AR has an inhibitory impact on p73 and p21, and there is a decrease in protein levels after DHT treatment. Furthermore, AR inhibition causes an increase in p73 and p21 levels in vivo and in vitro, resulting in a decrease in tumor volume (Zhu et al., 2016).

Therefore, AR may serve as a therapeutic target. Anti-androgen treatment with enzalutamide, an AR antagonist, has shown modest clinical efficacy in phase II clinical studies (Traina et al., 2018). Several preclinical and early clinical investigations have demonstrated that androgen receptors can be a targeted therapy in AR-positive TNBC (Lee et al., 2020).

It is unknown whether inhibition or stimulation of androgen activity in TNBC patients achieves therapeutic benefits. The contradiction in the role of androgen in TNBC between in vitro study and the clinical outcome comes from the disparity between these molecular biology investigations and the findings of immunohistochemistry and a few cell culture research (Tarulli et al., 2014; D'Amato et al., 2016; Anestis et al., 2020). A previous study by Shen and colleagues revealed that G-protein coupled estrogen receptor (GPER) expression was found to be reduced by DHT-induced TNBC cell growth (Shen et al., 2018). DHT-stimulated proliferation was reduced by G-1, a GPER agonist. Furthermore, in patient samples and in vitro, a negative connection between androgen and GPER was demonstrated in MDA-MB-231 cells. The role of androgen was investigated by Ahram et al., and it was found that androgen plays a critical role in TNBC metastasis and chemoresistance (Ahram et al., 2021). DHT treatment induces a mesenchymal

phenotype in LAR MDA-MB-453 cancerous cells. After a brief exposure of cells to DHT, a long-term nuclear translocation of AR was detected. Wnt signaling was identified to have a role in DHT-induced morphological changes. The mesenchymal transition of cells might be triggered by glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibitor (Ahram et al., 2021).

Targeting Androgen Receptor as a Therapy

In 1958, non-tissue-selective androgens like fluoxymesterone and danazol were used to treat metastatic breast cancer, but severe side effects such as hirsutism, hoarseness, and baldness led to their discontinuation (Kennedy, 1958). Following the introduction of tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors, medroxyprogesterone acetate (MPA), which was used to treat metastatic breast cancer in the early 1990s, lost its utility. While MPA was used to treat metastatic breast cancer, a study to determine its prognostic value revealed that patients who responded had much higher AR levels than those who did not; the clinical benefit rate (CBR) of fluoxymesterone, in comparison, was 33%, independent of the degree of AR expression in patients with ER-positive metastatic breast cancer who had progressed while receiving modern hormonal treatment. Breast cancer could be treated using selective AR modulators. Treatments of the MDA-MB-231 cell line with enobosarm inhibited the paracrine factors that promote metastasis, including interleukin 6 and matrix metalloproteinase 13, as well as subsequent migration and invasion. Enobosarm and GSK2849466 are two selective AR modulators undergoing clinical studies (Masiello et al., 2002). Several medications, such as AR inhibitors and CYP17A inhibitors, are included in the AR antagonists and they are frequently used to treat prostate cancer. In both preclinical and clinical research, several AR antagonists are now being studied in breast cancer.

Androgens antagonists compete for androgen receptor binding sites and counteract the effects of testosterone and DHT. These substances prevent androgens from exerting their biological effects on sensitive tissues. A few drugs with a steroidal structure are employed as androgen receptor antagonists. The earliest nonsteroidal, antiandrogens were substituted with toluidine like bicalutamide, flutamide, and nilutamide (Masiello et al., 2002). However, due to significant side effects, cyproterone acetate, oxendolone, and spironolactone have restricted
applicability (Liao, 2007). The non-steroidal first-generation AR antagonist called bicalutamide prevents the DNA-binding domain from attaching to the androgenresponse region. There were no measurable responses in the phase 2 clinical study of bicalutamide for breast cancer; however, resistance to bicalutamide is caused by inherited mutations in the ligand-binding region of AR or a rise in AR protein concentration (Osguthorpe & Hagler, 2011).

Enzalutamide (MDV3100) is an AR signaling antagonist with a five-fold higher affinity for androgen receptors than bicalutamide. It inhibits the nuclear translocation of AR, and lacks the agonist activity that bicalutamide had at therapeutic doses (Ni et al., 2011) (Figure 6). Enzalutamide can potentially reverse the effect of androgen by acting as a tumor suppressor in AR-positive TNBC (Zhu et al., 2016). The underlying molecular processes for these modifications have been addressed, illustrating that androgen can activate the several signaling pathways linked to DHT's anti-apoptotic activity (Santer et al., 2015; Nedeljković & Damjanović, 2019).

Figure 6

Androgen Receptor Antagonist Enzalutamide: Mechanism of Action (Rodriguez-Vida et al., 2015)



There are other types of AR antagonists in development. A selective AR down regulator called AZD-3514 inhibits nuclear translocation of AR and lowers AR levels (Rodriguez-Vida et al., 2015). EPI-001 is an another inhibitor targeting the AF-1 region, which is responsible for most of AR's transcriptional activity and inhibits the N-terminal domain of AR. Antisense oligonucleotides are also being developed, which use a locked structure to increase the binding affinity for mRNA and cut oligonucleotide length. Full-length AR and several AR splice variants are downregulated by EZN-4176 (AR-V7, AR-V12, AR-V13, and AR-V14). Abiraterone acetate, orteronel (TAK- 700), and VT-464 (Viamet), among other CYP17A inhibitors, are now being studied for breast cancer. By inhibiting 17-hydroxylase or 17,20-lyase activity, these medications prevent the synthesis of androgens. (Provenzano et al., 2018).

Drug Resistance

Despite a favourable initial response to chemotherapy, it is generally documented that TNBC is an aggressive group of breast cancer subtype. It is also well recognized that individuals with persistent TNBC after neoadjuvant treatment have a worse prognosis than those with non-TNBC (Lyons & Traina, 2017). Importantly, there is no recommended standard chemotherapy for these individuals and the regimens utilized are often determined by tumor size, lymph node status, tumor stage, overall performance status and the presence or absence of medical comorbidities (Nedeljković & Damjanović, 2019). In the lack of ER, PR, and HER-2 receptors, endocrine therapy such as aromatase inhibitors like tamoxifen and HER-2 specific therapies such as trastuzumab and Lapatinib are ineffective in women with TNBC (Matutino et al., 2018). TNBC patients appear highly chemosensitive to anthracyclines and taxanes, used as a routine therapy for high-risk patients, such as those with node-positive disease. Despite this, there is a lower overall survival rate (Balaji et al., 2016).

Chemotherapy resistance is a serious barrier in the successful breast cancer treatment. Although many cancers respond initially to chemotherapy, they can acquire resistance through various mechanisms over time (Housman et al., 2014). These mechanisms include DNA mutations and metabolic changes that improve drug inactivation and degradation of the drug, drug efflux, modification of drug target, DNA damage repair, increased EMT and cell death inhibition (Figure 7) (Vasan et al., 2019).

Cancer cells survive chemotherapy via evading apoptosis. Apoptosis is a highly regulated cell death mechanism with particular biochemical and genetic aspects that play a crucial role in the homeostasis and development in normal tissues (Hassan et al., 2014). The molecular steps in apoptosis can be divided into three stages: 1) initiation of caspases by an apoptosis-inducing agent, 2) activation of caspases by a signal transduction cascade, and 3) proteolytic cleavage of cellular components. Many death and survival genes are involved in apoptosis and are regulated by extracellular factors. The apoptosis pathway in mammalian cells is regulated through two distinct pathways: the extrinsic and the intrinsic pathways. Those two pathways are regulated by a group of enzymes called caspases (cysteine-aspartic acid proteases) that play an essential role in apoptosis. Activation of the caspase enzyme family causes some cellular changes such as condensation of chromatin, fragmentation of DNA, swelling of the membranes and shrinkage of the cell (Sun & Peng, 2009).

Figure 7

Mechanisms of Drug Resistance in Breast Cancer (created with biorender.com adapted from Vasan et al., 2019)



The extrinsic pathway starts by the binding of extracellular ligands to cell surface receptors such as nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR) and TNF-dependent apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), also known as death receptors (Figure 8). After binding to the receptor, the Fas-related death domain (FADD) and the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) consisting of procaspase-8 and -10 are formed. This complex activates caspase 8/10 within itself, and as a result, caspase-3 decomposes, becomes active, and initiates the apoptosis process (Carneiro & El-Deiry, 2020).

The intrinsic pathway, also known as the mitochondrial pathway, is induced by stress signals including ionizing radiation, cytotoxic agents and the absence of growth factors. They cause increased mitochondrial outer membrane permeability (MOMP) and transcriptional or post-transcriptional activation of BH3-only proapoptotic B-cell leukaemia/lymphoma (BCL-2) family proteins. Mitochondrial permeability is the crucial step in the apoptosis cascade and is mediated by BCL-2 family proteins. The permeability of mitochondria allows apoptotic proteins such as cytochrome c and the second caspase activator (Smac) to be released from the intermembrane space to the cytosol (Brusselmans et al., 2005; Rogers et al., 2019; Carneiro & El-Deiry, 2020).

The combination of cytochrome c and apoptotic protease activator factor-1 (Apaf-1) activates caspase-9, resulting in caspase-3, -6, and -7 activation (Sun & Peng, 2009). The inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAP) inactivates both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways by inhibiting caspase activity. This mechanism is the last protective measure against apoptosis. In the intrinsic pathway, the death signal can also be activated by c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), for which Bcl-xL is phosphorylated at serine 62, and its anti-apoptotic effect is reduced. Both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis are impaired in cancer cells, and escape from apoptosis is considered one of the main features of cancer cells (Simões- Wüst et al., 2002; Van Meer et al., 2009; Ma et al., 2013; Baig et al., 2016; Carneiro & El-Deiry, 2020; Dong & Alahari, 2020).

Although several studies imply that chemotherapeutic treatments kill breast cancer cells by inducing apoptosis, there are several critical implications for the future of breast cancer chemotherapy. The efficiency of a wide range of unrelated chemotherapeutic medications can be altered by metabolic changes that render cells more or less vulnerable to apoptosis. Changes that reduce cancer cells' capacity to activate the apoptotic machinery may play a role in chemoresistance to a wide range of drugs. To fully assess the significance of this approach in creating more efficient chemotherapy, complete knowledge of the apoptotic signal transduction machinery would be required (Sun & Peng, 2009).

Resistance to chemotherapeutics such as cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, methotrexate, fluorouracil and tubulin inhibitors has been associated with changes in genes controlling apoptosis (p53, caspase-3, BCL-2, BCL-xl) (Aas et al., 1996; Végran et al., 2006).



Figure 8

Apoptosis: Extrinsic and Intrinsic Pathways (created with biorender.com)

A previous study showed that MYC and MCL1 synchronize to keep chemotherapy-resistant cancer stem cells (CSCs) alive in TNBC. MYC and MCL1 boosted mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (mtOXPHOS) and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), all of which are necessary for cancer cell progression (Hutchinson et al., 2018).

Disruptions in the regulation of the intrinsic pathway in cancer are caused mainly by the anti-apoptotic BCL-2 protein family (BCL-2, BCL-XL and MCL-1) and pro-apoptotic molecules (BAX, BAK, BID, BIM, BIK, NOXA and PUMA) (Pilling & Hwang, 2019; Shahar & Larisch, 2020). Rather than the expression level of a specific molecule, the imbalance of the anti-apoptotic/pro-apoptotic protein ratio determines cell survival and sensitivity to apoptotic stimuli (Hutchinson et al., 2018).

Anti-apoptotic BCL-2 and BCL-XL proteins are highly expressed in glioma cancers; the high expression level of MCL-1 in glioma cancer is proportional to the resistance to BCL-2 inhibitor (Wang et al., 2017a). Downregulation of BCL-2 and upregulation of BAX induces apoptosis in TNBC MDA-MB-231 cells (Inao et al., 2018). Therefore, inhibition of the mitochondrial death pathway is among the targeted cancer treatment approaches.

Several studies in breast cancer have demonstrated that one mechanism of anticancer drug therapy in sensitising breast cancer cells to apoptosis is increasing the expression of death receptor ligands such as Fas ligand (FasL) (Shahar & Larisch, 2020).

microRNA

The history of miRNA discovery goes back to 1993. Short non-coding RNA molecules known as microRNAs (miRNAs) were first identified in the Caenorhabditis elegans, Lin-4, is the first miRNA found in C. elegans (Lee et al., 1993). microRNAs are evolutionary conserved, short non-coding RNAs (ncRNAs) of roughly 22 nucleotides (Garzon et al., 2009). So far, around four thousand mature miRNAs have been discovered and sequenced in the human genome (Cantini et al., 2017). They have a role in various biological processes and regulate protein translation by binding to target mRNAs. miRNAs are associated with cell growth, migration, invasion and drug sensitivity (Lu et al., 2005; Rasool et al., 2016; Nagesh et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019; Al-Othman et al., 2020; Sadakierska-Chudy, 2020). In tumor cells, miRNA expression varies, and it acts as either an oncogene or tumor suppressor. For example, miR-223, miR-122 and miR-26 are liver tumor suppressors, while miR-130b, miR-221 and miR-222 are oncogenic (Williams, 2008; Liu, 2012; Egeland et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2015). Other miRNAs influence the fate of cancer cells by controlling their self-renewal. For example, miR-34 inhibits human pancreatic cancer by regulating Notch and BCL-2 gene expression (Hosseinahli et al., 2018), and miRNA-122 suppresses hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) by targeting various oncogenes (El-Halawany et al., 2015).

There are three main steps in miRNA biogenesis (Figure 9). First, RNA polymerase begins to transcribe the segment, which may be found either within genes or in genes resulting in a lengthy stretch of mRNA known as primary miRNA (pri-miRNA). The next step is to shorten pri-miRNA by DROSHA and DGCR8 to create a precursor miRNA (pre-miRNA), which is 70 bases long. The final step includes exporting the pre-miRNA to the cytoplasm (via exportin 5), where Dicer catalyzes the breakdown of pre-miRNA into 22-base parts and separates the duplex into two single strands: a mature strand and a degraded strand.

The mature strand forms the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) with AGO-2 and R2D2. The RISC may either degrade or slow down the translation rate of the target mRNA. (Iqbal et al., 2019). The target mRNA can also be sequestered from the translation machinery and transported to the cytoplasmic bodies, where untranslated mRNAs await degradation. Although each miRNA's seed region is entirely complementary to its target mRNA, the full-length miRNA does not have to match with its target mRNA. Instead, a single miRNA needs just 2-8 nucleotides to recognize its target and accomplish its activity (Jay et al., 2007).



miRNA Biogenesis (adapted from Garzon et al., 2009)

Figure 9

miRNA Role in Breast Cancer

The significance of miRNA in cancer was initially investigated in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL). A particular region on chromosome 13 (specifically 13q14) was identified to have no tumor suppressor gene, but two types of miRNAs, miR-15a and miR-16a, which are the target of 13q14 deletions in CLL; the mutations are likely to have a role in the inactivation of their expression (Calin et al., 2004).

miRNAs have dual roles in breast cancer; for example, some miRNAs have tumor suppression activity that dysregulation has been documented in virtually all breast cancers and can affect all phases of carcinogenesis. Piasecka and colleagues suggested that increase in the levels of miR-203 inhibits cell proliferation and migration (Piasecka et al., 2018). This reduces tumor invasion *in vitro* via suppressing the zinc finger transcriptional repressor (SNAI2). This discovery suggests that the SNAI2 and miR-203 regulatory loop is critical in epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) and tumor metastasis (Cheung et al., 2015). miR-200c inhibits cellular proliferation by targeting the XIAP apoptosis inhibitor gene (Damiano et al., 2017). D'Ippolito & Iorio reported let-7 miRNA family to have tumor suppressor effect in breast cancer, and a few members can enhance tamoxifen sensitivity in TNBC cells *in vitro* by interrupting the ER signaling pathway (D'Ippolito & Iorio, 2013).

Several miRNAs act as oncomiRs in TNBC, including miR-9, miR-21, miR-93, miR-181a/b, miR-182, miR-221, miR-21, miR-182 and miR-155, all of which coordinate and control the whole carcinogenesis process (Sabit et al., 2021).

miRNA and Androgens in Breast Cancer

A few groups have investigated how androgens influence miRNA expression in breast cancer. Nakano et al. used a PCR microarray to reveal that five miRNAs were dysregulated in MCF-7 cells (Nakano et al., 2013). Lyu et al. discovered that four miRNAs, let-7a, b, c and d, were upregulated in androgen-treated MDA-MB-453 cells whereas the remaining seven miRNAs were downregulated (Lyu et al., 2014). Further research by Ahram and colleagues has discovered several types of miRNAs of which their expression was affected by androgens. By using PCR arrays, differential expression of 20 miRNAs in MDA-MB-453 cells upon androgen treatment was reported. Surprisingly, only three microRNAs, let-7a, b and d, were shown to be downregulated (Ahram et al., 2017). The same group also investigated the role of androgens in the control of miRNA expression in MCF-7 and T47D cells (Ahram et al., 2017). However, none of the alterations was similar to those reported by Nakano et al. (Nakano et al., 2013). In a recent study on MDA-MB-231 cells using PCR arrays, a differential change in the expression of 84 miRNA following treatment with DHT was investigated. They revealed that the expression of 33 miRNAs increased by more than two folds, including miR-328-3p, which increased by 13 folds. Also, several miRNAs were affected by androgens, including miR-26b-3p and miR-26a-3p; they were up-regulated upon androgen treatment (Al-Othman et al., 2018).

miRNA and Drug Resistance in Cancer

Several microRNAs have been linked to drug resistance in TNBC (Ma et al., 2010). Chemotherapy resistance appears to be modulated by particular miRNAs. Climent et al. postulated that the deletion of chromosome 11q, which carries the miR-125b gene, may be connected to the increased sensitivity of breast cancer patients treated with anthracycline. This finding showed a link between miRNA dysregulation and cancer therapy resistance (Climent et al., 2007).

miRNAs have a function in modulating drug resistance mediated by multidrug resistance/ P-glycoprotein (MDR1/P-gp) (Zhu et al., 2008). Compared to their parental cell lines A2780 and KB-3-1, expressions of miR-27a, miR-451, miR-99a, miR-100 and miR-125b1 were elevated in human MDR ovarian cancer cell line A2780DX5 and human cervical carcinoma cell line KB-V1. P-gp and MDR1 levels were reduced in A2780DX5 cells after transfection with miR-27a. The mimics of miR-27a, on the other hand, boosted MDR1 expression in the parental A2780 cells (Zhu et al., 2008). A recent study by Wang et al. on TNBC revealed that tamoxifen enhances the chemosensitivity of mesenchymal TNBC cells by upregulation of miR-200c, reversing their EMT-like behavior. The EMT-reversal effect is the result of the demethylation of its promoter (Wang et al., 2017).

A different study on miR-26b suggested its role as a tumor suppressor due to re-sensitizing cancer cells to chemotherapy. Zhao et al., by using gastric cancer cell lines BGC823 and SGC7901, revealed that the miR-26b suppresses the CDC6 gene and therefore decreases the proliferation of cells, resulting in sensitizing gastric

cancer to paclitaxel chemotherapy (Zhao et al., 2019). Another study on colorectal cancer cells found that miR-26b boosted sensitivity to 5-FU *in vitro* and improved the efficacy of drug in inhibiting tumor development *in vivo*. miR-26b suppressed tumors via decreasing P-gp production. Furthermore, this study revealed an inverse relationship between miR-26b and P-gp expression (Wang et al., 2018). In hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) cell lines, miR-26b was found to sensitize HCC cells to doxorubicin-induced apoptosis by targeting the NF-κB and decreasing the expression of TAK1 and TAB3 (Zhao et al., 2014). Up to our knowledge, no previous study investigated the link between miRNA26 and chemoresistance in TNBC.

CHAPTER III Materials and Methods

Experimental Design

The experimental design is illustrated in Figure 10. Briefly, culture media fortified with 10% charcoal-stripped FBS were used as optimum media for cell growth for two days. After that, cells were given DHT and/or enzalutamide for three days. The cells were then treated for the given time with doxorubicin with or without DHT and/or enzalutamide before the experiment. To assess the effect of miR-26b, the cells were transfected with miR-26b mimic, or antisense, then treated with DHT and/or enzalutamide for three days. Then, the cells were treated with doxorubicin with or without DHT and/or Enz for the indicated period before performing the assays.

Figure 10

Experiment Workflow



Experiment Model

MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells were obtained from Prof. Ahram's laboratory and used in this study. The cells were grown in DMEM high glucose cell culture media and Leibovitz's L-15 media (Capricon Scientific, Ebsdorfergrund,

Germany). 1% (v/v) L-glutamine, 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin, and 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum were added to the medium. All media reagents were purchased from Biowest (Nuaillé, France). The cell lines were incubated for 24 hours in media supplemented with fetal bovine serum in a humidified incubator at 37°C with 5% CO₂ for MDA-MB-231 cells and without CO₂ for MDA-MB-453 cells. Before applying different treatments, 10% of charcoal-stripped FBS (Biowest, Cat. No. S181F-500) was used. The word "control" refers to cells which only contain culture media instead of any other treatment.

Preparation of Solutions

Preparation of Dihydrotestosterone

10 mM stock DHT solution was prepared by dissolving 2.9 mg DHT (Tokyo Chemical Industry, Cat. No. A0462) in 1 mL of DMSO (ACS Grade, Bioworld, Cat. No. 40470005-1). The stock solution (10 mM) was then diluted in DMSO to prepare 10 and 100 μ M DHT solutions which were kept at -20°C and utilized within three months of preparation.

Preparation of Enzalutamide

Different concentrations (2 mM, 4 mM, 8 mM and 16 mM) of enzalutamide were prepared by diluting a 100 mM stock solution of enzalutamide (Cayman Company, MDV 3100) with DMSO and stored at -20°C until used. For treating cells with DHT \pm enzalutamide, the final concentration of compounds was achieved by adding to media at a ratio of 1:1000.

Preparation of Doxorubicin

Different concentrations of (0.5 mM, 1 mM and 2 mM) of doxorubicin (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA, D1515) were prepared and stored at -4°C until used. For treating cells with doxorubicin combined with DHT and enzalutamide, the final concentration of compounds was achieved by adding to media at a ratio of 1:1000.

Preparation of Culture Medium for Cell Lines

The DMEM/F-12 medium solution was supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin, 1% glutamine. By withdrawing numerous times with a pipette, a homogeneous dispersion was established. The prepared culture media was stored at 4°C. The substances used and their volumes are given in Table1. Furthermore, cryopreservation media preparation is shown in Table 2.

Table 1

Culture Media and its Components

Solutions	Percent	Volume
Culture Media	1X	440 ml
Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	10%	50 ml
Penicillin / Streptomycin	1%	5 ml
L-Glutamine	1%	5 ml
Total volume		500 ml

Table 2

Cryopreservation Media Preparation

Solutions	Percent	Volume
Culture Media	1X	8.4 ml
Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS)	10%	1 ml
Penicillin / Streptomycin	1%	100 µl
DMSO	5%	500 µl
Total volume		10 ml

Methods

Optimization and Cell Passage

MDA-MB-231 was cultivated and multiplied in the laboratory conditions (DMEM medium with l-Glutamine, pH 7.4). For MDA-MB- 453, the base medium was ATCC-formulated Leibovitz's L-15 Medium.

The cell lines were incubated at 37° C with 5% CO₂ /or without CO₂ in a medium containing 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum or 10% of charcoal-stripped FBS

(Biowest, Cat. No. S181F-500) in the case of preparing cells for treatments. The media is supplemented with 1% glutamine and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. ATCC and Sigma were used as a reference for culture conditions and requirements specific to cell lines. The doubling time of cells was determined, and optimization studies were performed in our laboratory conditions. The duplicated cells were frozen in at least five vials at -86°C after each passage and stored in the Prof. Ahram's Laboratory at the University of Jordan.

Cell Counting

The hemocytometer chamber and cover slip were cleaned with alcohol to determine the cell count. The coverslip was dried and held in place. 10 μ L of collected cells were put on the hemacytometer with 0.4% trypan blue stain (Lonza, Cat. No. 17-942E) in a 1:1 ratio. DMIL Leica inverted microscope with a 10X objective was used to count the cells (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). The counting chamber contains 16 medium squares, each with 25 small squares (9 divided in half). The following formula was used to count the cells:

$N \times 10^4 \times df = cells /mL$

N: number of the cells in one of the large square; Df: dilution factor

Cell Viability

Cell viability was determined using an MTT assay. MDA-MB- 231 and MDA-MB- 453 cells were added to 96-well plates at 5000 cells per well. The cells were allowed to recover and retain their morphology for 24 hours. After the waiting period, the cells were exposed to different concentrations of DHT (0, 10, and 100 nM) in combinations with different concentrations of enzalutamide (8 and 16 μ M). After 72 hours of incubation, different concentrations of doxorubicin (Dox) were added to wells and cells were incubated for 24 hours. Cell viability was assessed using 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5 diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (MTT) (Sigma-Aldrich, M5655) in a concentration of 5 mg/ml of PBS.The solution was filtered through a 0.2 μ m filter and added to cell culture media in a ratio of 1:10, and to culture well being assayed for 3 to 4 hrs at 37°C. In all the experiments, one set of wells, having only cells and medium, but no drug was taken as the control. After that,

the medium with MTT solution was removed, and the converted dye was solubilized with acidic isopropanol and DMSO (1:1). The absorbance of dissolved crystals were measured at 570 nm using the Synergy HTX Multi-Mode Reader (BioTeck, Canada) and Gen5TM Microplate Reader and Imager Software (BioTeck, Canada) (Al-Othman et al., 2018).

Transfection

RNAifectin[™] Transfection Reagent (abm, Cat. No. G073) was used for transfection according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were incubated for 6 hr in a serum-free media containing RNAifectin[™] with 50 nM of either of miR-26bmimic (Qiagen, Cat. No. MS00003234), miR-26b-3p antisense (Qiagen, Cat. No. MIN0000083), or Silencer[™] sc-siRNA (Thermo Fisher, Cat. No. 4390843) as a negative control. Then, the media was changed with new appropriate media supplemented with 10% of charcoal-stripped FBS in addition to treatments and incubated for three days (Ahram et al., 2017)

Gene Expression Analysis

RNA Isolation, cDNA Synthesis and Quantitative PCR Analysis

To analyse the expression of miR-26b, *bid*, *bcl2* and *mcl1* mRNA, cells were seeded in 6-well plates. As mentioned earlier, before seeding, cells were grown in media supplemented with 10% of charcoal-stripped FBS for 48 hrs. Cells were then seeded and incubated for 24 hrs before treatment.

The total mRNA was extracted from the cells using the miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany, Cat. No. 217004), following the manufacturer's instructions. The QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, 204143) synthesized cDNA for the *bid*, *bcl2* and *mcl1* mRNA analyses. Nucleic acid concentrations and purity were assessed using the NanoDropTM 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher, Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA, ND-2000). Quantitative PCR (qPCR) was performed using the Quanti-Tect SYBR® Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, 204143). Relative mRNA expression was quantified using the 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR instrument Applied BiosystemsTM (CA, USA). The relative expression of the target gene was quantified and normalized to that of the reference β-actin genes using the livak method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001).

cDNA samples of miRNA from treated MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-453 cells were synthesised using, miScript II RT Kit (Qiagen. Cat. No. 218161),

transfected RNA samples for both cell lines used in this study were diluted to be 1 μ g RNA/ 12 μ l dH2O. Then, the following reverse-transcription reaction master mix was prepared as of enough volume for all samples as in Table 3:

Table 3

Reverse	Transcr	iption	Reaction	<i>Components</i>

Component	Volume per reaction
5x miScript HiSpec Buffer	4 µl
10X miScript nucleic mix	2 µl
miScript Reverse Transcriptase mix	2 µl
RNase-free water + RNA Template for each sample(depends on conc measured for each sample)	12 µl
Total volume	20 µl

For each sample, $12 \ \mu l$ of diluted RNA template were mixed with $8 \ \mu l$ of the reverse-transcription master mix that prepared until the final volume reached $20 \ \mu l$ for each reaction. Tubes were incubated for 5 minutes at 95°C and 60 minutes at $37^{\circ}C$ and then placed on ice to inactivate miScript Reverse Transcriptase Mix until they were utilized. Samples were stored at -20°C until used.

In qPCR, to detect changes in miR-26b level upon treatment and/or transfection. To do so, Hs_miR-26b miScript Primer Assay (Qiagen, Cat. No. MS00081472), which targets mature hsa-miR-26b was used. RNU6 (RNA, U6 Small Nuclear 1) was used as the reference gene and detected by Hs_RNU6-2_11 miScript Primer Assay (Qiagen, Cat. No. MS00033740). PCR reactions were performed in regular 0.1 ml PCR strip tubes using QuantiTect SYBR® Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, Cat. No. 204143). The reaction contained 10 µl of 2x QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Master Mix, 2 µl of 10x miScript Universal Primer, 2 µl of 10x miScript Primer Assay (Hs_miR-26b, miScript Primer Assay or RNU6), and the concentrations of cDNA were 3ng per PCR reactions. The following qPCR conditions were used: 95oC for 15 min then 40 cycles of 94oC for 15 sec, 55oC for 60 sec and 72oC for 30 sec. The following forward (F) and reverse (R) primers were used in this study:

• *Bcl2* (human):

Forward primer: 5' TTCTTTGAGTTCGGTGGGGT 3' Reverse primer: 5' GCTGAAACTCCCTTAGCCCT 3'

• *Mcl1* (human):

Forward primer: 5' CCAAGAAAGCTGCATCGAACCAT 3' Reverse primer: 5' CAGCACATTCCTGATGCCACCT 3'

• *Bid* (human):

Forward primer: 5' TGGGACACTGTGAACCAGGAGT 3' Reverse primer: 5' GAGGAAGCCAAACACCAGTAGG 3'

• β -actin (human):

Forward primer: 5' CTGTGGCATCCACGAAACTA 3' Reverse primer: 5' CGCTCAGGAGGAGCAATG 3'

Caspase 3/7 Glo Assay

In a white-walled multiwell luminometer cell culture plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, United States), cells were seeded at 5000 cells per well. The cells were treated with DHT and/or enzalutamide for 72 hours, then doxorubicin was added for 4 hours. The activity of caspase 3/7 was evaluated using Promega Caspase 3/7 Glo Assays (Promega Corporation, WI, USA, Cat. No. G8091) according to manufacturers' instructions. The Synergy HTX Multi-Mode Reader (BioTek Instruments, Canada) and Gen5TM Microplate Reader and Imager Software were used to measure luminescence (BioTek Instruments) (Sundquist et al., 2006).

TUNEL Assay

DNA degradation was assessed using the DeadEnd[™] Fluorometric TUNEL (terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling) System (Promega, Madison, USA, Cat. No. TB235) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, cells were seeded at a density of 10000 cells/well in 15×1-mm, type I collagen-coated glass coverslips and placed in 12-well plates for 24 hrs. After incubating with the different treatments, the cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min before permeabilization with 0.5% Triton X-100. The TUNEL reaction mixture was applied to the cells, followed by ProLong Gold Antifade Mountant with DAPI (Thermo Fisher, P36962). The Zeiss Axio Imager 2 Fluorescent Microscope was used to examine the cells and the images were analyzed using Zen 2012, Blue Edition (Zeiss, Germany). For quantitative analysis the TUNEL labeled nuclei were analyzed using ImageJ software (Schneider, et al., 2012).

CHAPTER IV Results

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on Cell Morphology

To investigate the influence of DHT on cell morphology, cells were microscopically examined after three days of treatment with 16 μ M enzalutamide with or without 10 nm and 100 nm DHT in a medium supplemented with 10% charcoal-stripped FBS (Figure 11). Present microscopic investigation indicated no significant effect of DHT and enzalutamide on MDA-MB-231 cell morphology: that the spindle-like shape of cells was not altered in the presence of DHT alone or in combination with enzalutamide. On the other hand, DHT affects MDA-MB-453 cell morphology that is originally spheroid shape; when DHT was added, cell stacking was decreased, and cells began to take on an extended, fibroblast-like morphology after three days of DHT treatment (Figure 12).

Figure 11





(A) MDA-MB-231 control cells (B) Cells treated with 10 nM DHT (C) Cells treated with 100 nM DHT (D) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide (E) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide in combination with 10 nM DHT (F) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide in combination with 100 nM DHT.

Figure 12

The Effect of DHT Treatment on the Morphology of MDA-MB-453 Cells



(A) MDA-MB-453 control cells (B) Cells treated with 10 nM DHT (C) Cells treated with 100 nM DHT (D) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide (E) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide in combination with 10 nM DHT (F) Cells treated with 16 μ M enzalutamide in combination with 100 nM DHT.

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells

To assess the effect of DHT and enzalutamide on the growth of cells, the cells were treated with different concentrations of both DHT and enzalutamide for three days. DHT had no significant effect on the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 13A). In contrast, it significantly induced the growth of MDA-MB-453 cells in a dose-dependent manner, increasing the cell number by 30 and 50% at 10 and 100 nM DHT, respectively (Figure 13B). The sensitivity of cells to enzalutamide was variable, though. Enzalutamide reduced the growth of MDA-MB-231 cells in a dose-dependent manner, decreasing cell numbers by 20% at 2 μ M up to 40% at 16 μ M (Figure 13C). On the other hand, the inhibitory effect of enzalutamide on MDA-MB-

453 cells was only significantly apparent at 16 μ M, which reduced cell growth by 34% (Figure 13D).

Figure 13

The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on the Proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells



(A and C) MDA-MB-231 cells, (B and D) MDA-MB-453 cells. All presented concentrations are final concentrations. p-values are indicated as ** < 0.01 and *** < 0.001, # < 0.0001 compared with control (cells treated with 0.1% DMSO). Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells Toward Doxorubicin in Combination with Dihydrotestosterone and Enzatulamide

The influence of DHT and enzalutamide on the chemoresponse of both cell lines toward doxorubicin was then investigated. The half-maximal inhibitory concentrations (IC_{50}) of doxorubicin on both cell lines were first determined and then each cell line was treated with this concentration in the presence of DHT and/or enzalutamide. As for MDA-MB-231 cells, the IC_{50} of doxorubicin was determined to be 7.9 μ M (Figure 14A). Adding 8 or 16 μ M enzalutamide to the cells treated with doxorubicin further reduced cell viability (Figure 14B). On the other hand, DHT increased cell viability at 10 and 100 nM (Figure 14C). Enzalutamide, however, reduced the effect of DHT on the chemoresistance of cells at 10 nM DHT, but not at 100 nM (Figure 14D).

Figure 14

DHT and Enzalutamide Affect the Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 Cells toward Doxorubicin



(A) Dose-response curve for MDA-MB-231 cells treated with doxorubicin (DOX) for 24 hrs. (B) Effect of Enz on chemosensitivity (C) Effect of DHT on chemosensitivity (D) Effect of the combination of DHT and Enz on chemosensitivity. p-values are indicated as NS, Not Significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, and ***<0.001 compared with the indicated treatment, and # <0.0001 versus the vehicle-treated sample. Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

The IC_{50} of doxorubicin on MDA-MB-453 cells was calculated to be 21.4 μ M (Figure 15A). Enzalutamide did not change the chemoresponse of cells toward doxorubicin at either 8 or 16 μ M (Figure 15B). On the other hand, treatment of cells with either 10 or 100 nM DHT increased their chemoresistance (Figure 15C). Furthermore, the addition of enzalutamide reduced the DHT-induced chemoresistance toward doxorubicin at 10 and 100 nM (Figure 15D).

Figure 15

The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on ChemoResponse of MDA-MB-453 Cells Toward Doxorubicin



(A) Dose-response curve for MDA-MB-453 cells treated with doxorubicin (DOX) for 24 hrs. (B) Effect of Enz on chemosensitivity. (C) Effect of DHT on chemosensitivity. (D) Effect of the combination of DHT and Enz on chemosensitivity. p-values are indicated as ** < 0.01 and *** < 0.001 compared with the indicated treatment, and # < 0.0001 compared with the vehicle-treated sample. Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Late Stages of Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis

In order to determine whether DHT increases the chemoresistance of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells toward doxorubicin via suppressing apoptosis, two assays were performed. The first assay was the TUNEL assay, which would illustrate the extent of DNA cleavage at the final stages of apoptosis. Treatment of the cells with DNase was used as a positive control and treatment of cells with doxorubicin for 4 hours was optimal to observe differences in DNA cleavage among the different treatments. As shown in Figure 16, doxorubicin induced DNA cleavage in MDA-

MB-231 cells but adding 10 nM DHT to cells blocked this induction. On the other hand, enzalutamide (16 μ M) induced a strong signal of DNA cleavage, which increased by three folds when combined with doxorubicin. The addition of DHT by itself or in combination with enzalutamide to doxorubicin-treated cells reduced the signal intensity indicating a lower incidence of DNA nicking (Figure 17A). Similar results were observed for MDA-MB-453 cells, except that enzalutamide had a weaker effect on DNA cleavage compared to MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 17B)

Figure 16

TUNEL Assay Results for MDA-MB-231 (A) and MDA-MB-453 Cells (B)



The nuclei were visualized by staining with DAPI (blue), and DNA nicking was visualized by fluorescein-12-dUTP (Green). Cells were treated with doxorubicin (DOX) at different time intervals 2, 4, 8 hrs.

Figure 17

TUNEL Assay Results for the Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on DNA Degradation Induced by Treatment of MDA-MB-231 Cells (A and C) and MDA-MB-453 Cells (B and D) with Doxorubicin (DOX)



The nuclei were visualized by staining with DAPI (blue), and DNA nicking was visualized by fluorescein-12-dUTP (Green). Scale bar 10 μ m. p-values are indicated as *<0.05 and # <0.00001 compared with cells treated with DOX (IC₅₀). Data points are presented as mean ± SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Caspase 3/7 Activity

The activity of caspase 3/7 in cells was then measured under different treatments to further assess the effect of DHT and enzalutamide on doxorubicininduced apoptosis. The activity of caspase 3/7 was found to be elevated in both cell lines upon exposing cells with doxorubicin (Figure 18A and B). Prior treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with DHT did not reduce the enzyme activity, whereas it blocked the enzyme activity in MDA-MB-453 cells. In both cell lines, enzalutamide further increased the activity of caspase 3/7 when combined with doxorubicin relative to the treatments with doxorubicin alone. In addition, there was no difference in enzyme activity in cells treated with doxorubicin, DHT and enzalutamide relative to the combination of doxorubicin and enzalutamide.

Figure 18

The Effect of DHT and Enzalutamide on the Activity of Caspase 3/7 in the Presence or Absence of Doxorubicin in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells



P-value is indicated as **< 0.01 and ***<0.001 compared with the indicated treatment and # < 0.0001 versus vehicle-treated sample. Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on the Expression of the Apoptosis-Related Genes

The effect of DHT and enzalutamide on doxorubicin induced apoptosis suggests that they may act via altering the expression of apoptosis-regulatory genes. Therefore, three genes were investigated: the anti-apoptotic *bcl2* and *mcl1* genes and

the pro-apoptotic *bid* gene. The cells were treated with 10 nM DHT or 16 μ M enzalutamide for three days, and gene expression was assessed by qPCR. DHT significantly increased the expression of *bcl2* by 2.5 folds in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 19A). Although the same gene expression in DHT-treated MDA-MB-453 cells was significant, it was modest (1.3 fold). DHT also significantly increased the expression of *mcl1* by 1.5 and 1.7 folds in MDA-MB-453 and MDA-MB-231 cells, respectively. The *bid* expression was found to be unaffected by DHT treatment in both cell lines.

On the other hand, enzalutamide significantly reduced the expression of *mcl1* by 0.5 fold in both MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells (Figure 19A and D) and decreased the expression of *bcl2* in MDA-MB-453 cells only by 0.4 fold (Figure 19E). As for the *bid* expression, enzalutamide increased it by 3.6 folds in MDA-MB-453 cells but not MDA-MB-231 cells.

Figure 19





p-values are indicated as *<0.05, **<0.01, and ***<0.001 compared with the vehicle-treated sample. Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

Determination of the Effectiveness of miR-26b Transfection

To ensure the transfection efficiency of miR-26b on both cell lines tested, a qPCR was used to check the expression levels of miR-26b. Briefly, cells were transfected with miR-26-b mimic and anti-sense. Cells not transfected only containing transfection reagent were used as the control. When cells were transfected with miR-26b mimic, the expression increased by 90 fold compared to the control (mock) in MDA-MB-231 cells as in Figure 20; while the expression of miR-26b mimic in MDA-MB-453 cells increased by 20 fold. In contrast, transfection with the anti-sense did not affect the miR-26b in both cell lines tested.

Figure 20

The Effect of Transfection on the Expression Level of miR-26b in MDA-MB-231 MDA-MB-453 Cells



The Effect of miR-26b Transfection on the Proliferation and Chemosensitivity of MDA-MB-231 Cells

To investigate the effect of miR-26b transfection on the chemosensitivity of MDA-MB-231 cells, cells were transfected with miR-26b mimic and its anti-sense. Cells only contained transfection reagent were used as control (mock). As shown in Figure 21, transfection of MDA-MB-231 cells with miR-26b mimic or anti-sense does not affect cell proliferation compared to the control.

Figure 21

The Effect of miR-26b on Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-231 Cells to Doxorubicin



Results were normalized to control cells (0.01% DMSO treated cells) and analyzed by one-way ANOVA

The Effect of miR-26b Transfection on the Proliferation and Chemosensitivity of MDA-MB-453 Cells

To investigate the effect of miR-26b transfection on the chemosensitivity of MDA-MB-453 cells, cells were transfected with miR-26b mimic and anti-sense. Cells only contained transfection reagent were used as control. As shown in Figure 22, transfection of MDA-MB-453 cells with miR-26b mimic decreases cell viability in a non-significant manner (Figure 22) but increases cell sensitivity toward doxorubicin compared to control.

Figure 22

The Effect of miR-26b on Chemoresponse of MDA-MB-453 Cells to Doxorubicin



The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Caspase 3/7 Activity in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells

In order to investigate the effect of miR-26b on the caspase 3/7 activity in the presence of doxorubicin, a caspase 3/7 Glo assay was done to ensure the apoptotic behaviour of miR-26b mimic and anti-sense (Figure 23). miR-26b mimic increased the activity of caspase 3/7 significantly. Also, it increased the activity of caspase 3/7 in the presence of doxorubicin.

Figure 23





The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Late Stages of Doxorubicin-Induced Apoptosis

In order to determine if miR-26b mimic increases the chemoresistance of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells toward doxorubicin via apoptosis induction, two assays were performed. The first assay was the TUNEL assay. Treatment of the cells with DNase was used as a positive control, and treatment of cells with doxorubicin for 4 hours was optimal to observe differences in DNA cleavage among the different treatments. As shown previously in Figure 14, doxorubicin induced DNA cleavage in both cell lines. Cells that were transfected with miR-26b mimic induce a strong signal of DNA cleavage when combined with doxorubicin in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 24). Similar results were observed for MDA-MB-453 cells (Figure 25).

Figure 24

The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on DNA Degradation Detected by TUNEL Assay in MDA-MB-231



A) The nuclei were visualized by staining with DAPI (blue), and DNA nicking was visualized by fluorescein-12-dUTP (Green). Scale bar $10\mu m$ B) Quantitative results of TUNEL analysis of doxorubicin (DOX) in combination with miR-26b mimic. p-values are indicated as as ns, Not Significant *<0.05

compared with cells treated with DOX (IC50). Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

Figure 25

The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on DNA Degradation Detected by TUNEL Assay in MDA-MB-453 Cells



A) The nuclei were visualized by staining with DAPI (blue), and DNA nicking was visualized by fluorescein-12-dUTP (Green). Scale bar $10\mu m.B$)Quantitative results of TUNEL analysis of doxorubicin (DOX) in combination with miR-26b mimic, p-values are indicated as as ns, Not Significant and *<0.05 compared with cells treated with DOX (IC50). Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Expression of the Apoptosis-Regulatory Genes

To assess the effect of miR-26b mimic on apoptosis, anti-apoptotic *bcl2* and *mcl1* genes and the pro-apoptotic *bid* gene were investigated by qPCR. We found that the miR-26b mimic decreased the expression of *mcl1* and *bcl2* in MDA-MB-453 cells only. miR-26b mimic increased *bid* expression in MDA-MB-453 and MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 26).

The Effect of Dihydrotestosterone and Enzalutamide on miR-26b Levels in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 Cells

The role of DHT on the expression level of miR-26b in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells was investigated using qPCR after treating cells with 10 nM or 100 nM DHT (16 μ M) enzalutamide and a combination of DHT with enzalutamide for three days in media supplemented with 10% charcoal-stripped FBS. Results showed that DHT increased the expression of miR-26b significantly by 3.1 fold in MDA-MB-231 and by 2.6 fold in MDA-MB-453 cells; also, enzalutamide increased the expression of miR-26b in both cell lines by 2.8 and 1.6 fold (Figure 27).

Figure 26

The Effect of miR-26b Mimic on the Expression of mcl1 (A and D), bcl2 (B and E) and bid (C and F) in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells



p-values are indicated as (ns) non significant, *<0.05, **<0.01, and ***<0.001 compared with the vehicle-treated sample. Data points are presented as mean \pm SD of three replicates. Experiments were repeated at least three times.

Figure 27

The Effect of DHT, Enzalutamide and its Combination on the Expression Level of miR-26b



CHAPTER V

Discussion

The androgenic pathway is proposed to be an alternative target of therapy of breast cancers, including TNBCs, that are resistant to hormonal therapy (Lyons & Traina, 2017). Therefore, it is crucial to better understand the biological roles of this pathway on breast cancer subtypes, particularly TNBCs. Previous studies have demonstrated the acquisition of chemoresistance against paclitaxel, doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide in breast cancer cells (Simões-Wüst et al., 2002). This study reported a similar phenomenon but in association with the AR pathway, where AR activation confers chemoresistance to MDA-MB-231 cells toward doxorubicin (Al-Momany et al., 2021). Herein, this is true in MDA-MB-231 cells but also in another TNBC model system, specifically the LAR MDA-MB-453 cells. Importantly, this can be reversed by inhibiting AR with enzalutamide. Another important finding to note is the differential molecular regulation of these two cell lines, which represent different subtypes of TNBC.

Chemoresistance can develop through various processes, one of which is drug efflux by ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. However, this does not seem to be a mechanism by which DHT induces chemoresistance in MDA-MB-231 cells (Al-Momany et al., 2021). Another mechanism of increasing drug resistance is via EMT. In fact, it is becoming increasingly clear that chemoresistance is commonly associated with EMT in various cancers, including breast cancer (Huang et al., 2015). The relationship between EMT and chemoresistance was proposed by Sommers et al. who discovered EMT in adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 cells and a vinblastine-resistant ZR-75-B cell line (Sommers et al., 1992). Adriamycin-resistant MCF-7 cells had more vimentin expression and deficient development of desmosomes and tight junctions, a hallmark feature in EMT (Sommers et al., 1992). Notably, not all drug-resistant MCF-7 cells displayed EMT characteristics, suggesting that EMT provides a selective growth advantage in the presence of chemotherapy among the heterogenic cancer cell populations. Among the signaling pathways that promote the EMT phenotype and contribute to drug resistance were the Wnt and hedgehog pathways where the overexpression of Wnt3 activated the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway promoting EMT and leading to trastuzumab resistance in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer cells (Wu et al., 2012). Recently, Ahram et al. reported that treatment of the MDA-MB-453 cells with DHT induced

partial EMT suggesting the contribution of EMT to the DHT-induced chemoresistance of these cells. However, the later study found that after 72 or 144 hours of DHT treatment, the expression of Slug, an EMT inducer, increased (Ahram et al., 2021). The upregulation of Slug is associated with the acquisition of chemoresistance in breast cancer cells (Kim & Ko, 2021; Liu et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2019; Zhou et al., 2020). Interestingly, no changes in the expression of EMTregulatory genes in MDA-MB-231 cells were found (Ahram et al., 2021). Taking into consideration that the inhibition of AR has an opposite effect of DHT on doxorubicin-induced apoptosis and the apoptosis regulatory factors (Mehta et al., 2015), the mechanism of evading apoptosis by modulating the expression and activity of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins seems to be the most plausible mechanism of inducing chemoresistance by DHT.

Caspase-3/7 activation, a component of the downstream apoptosis pathway, is required for the process of apoptosis through the degradation of essential proteins necessary for cellular survival and function, leading to cell death (Lamkanfi & Kanneganti, 2010; Virág et al., 2013). Treating breast cancer cells with doxorubicin induces the activities of these enzymes, and DHT counteracts that. These findings are consistent with those of Rokhlin et al., who reported that DHT inhibited apoptosis in prostate cancer cells in a dose-dependent manner through caspase inhibition (Rokhlin et al., 2005). Furthermore, another study revealed that DHT has a protective effect on glial cells by blocking apoptosis through the inactivation of caspase 3 (Yao et al., 2016).

In this study, enzalutamide has the opposite effect of DHT in both breast cancer cell lines tested. In addition, the observation that enzalutamide reduces the effect of DHT parallels the previous findings of Shanker et al. They illustrated that treatment of prostate cancer cells with enzalutamide in combination with GSK126, an inhibitor of enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), resulted in caspase activation leading to the cleavage of poly ADP ribose polymerase (PARP-1) and consequently, apoptosis (Shankar et al., 2020). Based on these observations, it can be concluded that DHT reverses the chemotherapeutic drug-induced apoptosis by blocking the caspase 3/7 activity, and this can be reversed by enzalutamide.

The anti-apoptotic MCL1 is a primary factor of drug resistance to a large variety of cancer therapies where its overexpression increases resistance to multiple chemotherapeutic drugs in solid tumors and hematological malignancies (Wuillème-
Toumi et al., 2005; Santer et al., 2015; Pan et al., 2016; Bai et al., 2021; Shimizu et al., 2021). In fact, MCL1 has more significant apoptosis-inhibitory effects relative to other BCL2 family members (Oyesanya et al., 2012). The *mcl1* gene appears to be under the regulation of AR in both cell lines, and induction of its expression by DHT could explain a mechanism by which DHT induces chemoresistance. It is noteworthy that the up-regulation of MCLI by DHT favours cell survival and drug resistance since MCL1, in cooperation with MYC, promotes drug resistance in TNBC by increasing mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and expanding cancer stem cells (Hutchinson et al., 2018). DHT may also induce chemoresistance via regulating the expression of other genes, such as *bcl2*. However, *bcl2* was found to be up-regulated in MDA-MB-453 cells, only highlighting the cell-specific actions of DHT. Other genes were identified in MDA-MB-453 cells to be DHT-dependent, including the pro-apoptotic bik, bok, and enog genes, whose DHT-induced down-regulation reduces drug-induced apoptosis (Mehta et al., 2015). DHT has been shown to increase resistance and inhibit drug-induced apoptosis by inhibiting the expression of the pro-apoptotic *bax* gene in glial cells (Bing et al., 2015).

Interestingly, enzalutamide activity also seems to be cell-specific, where it down-regulates mcl1 and bcl2 and upregulates bid in MDA-MB-453 cells only. Our findings parallel an earlier report showing that BCL2 inhibition sensitizes TNBC to doxorubicin (Inao et al., 2018). In addition, breast cancer cells that overexpress AR become more resistant to tamoxifen and bicalutamide reverses this effect and sensitizes the cells to the drug (De Amicis et al., 2010). Variations in BCL-2 levels have already been shown to influence apoptotic susceptibility as a mechanism of evading apoptosis and have been associated with resistance to several cytotoxic drugs used in the treatment of TNBC, such as paclitaxel, doxorubicin and cyclophosphamide (Nedeljković & Damjanović, 2019). Similarly, Mehta et al. found that bicalutamide, an androgen antagonist, stimulated the expression of bik, bok and enog genes (Mehta et al., 2015). AR inhibition by enzalutamide has the potential to reverse the effect of androgen by acting as a tumor suppressor in AR-positive TNBC (Zhu et al., 2016). It is promising to note that the induction of apoptosis by enzalutamide and its amplification of the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin in addition to its inhibition of the DHT-induced increase in the expression of *mcl1* in both cell lines suggesting its potential as a target in the treatment of TNBC (Alsawalha et al., 2022).

AR activation by DHT has proliferative effects on TNBC cells (Jiang et al., 2016; Pietri et al., 2016; Lyons & Traina, 2017; Shen et al., 2018). The findings presented in this study regarding the effect of DHT on the proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells are compatible with previous studies by Ahram et al. (Ahram et al., 2021) and others as well, whereby it has an influence on the proliferation of MDA-MB-453 cells but not MDA-MB-231 cells (Chavez et al., 2010; Chottanapund et al., 2013; Ahram et al., 2018; Al-Othman et al., 2018). The effect of DHT on the growth of MDA-MB-453 cells may be due to the high expression of AR in these cells (Guedj et al., 2012; McNamara et al., 2013; Ahram et al., 2018). The role of AR in the development of breast cancer is complex, where it can perform its actions at the genomic level as a ligand-dependent transcription factor, regulating gene expression. Or, it can function in the non-genomic signaling pathways by suppressing G-protein receptor signaling in TNBC (Shen et al., 2018) or blocking apoptosis (Park et al., 2019). The underlying molecular processes for these modifications have been addressed, illustrating that androgen can activate several signaling pathways linked to DHT's anti-apoptotic activity (Santer et al., 2015; Nedeljković & Damjanović, 2019).

On the other hand, enzalutamide negatively affects the proliferation of both cell lines. This goes in line with the apoptotic activities of enzalutamide on breast cancer in general (Nadiminty et al., 2013; Gerratana et al., 2018) and, more specifically, in TNBC (Barton et al., 2015; D'Amato et al., 2016; Leone et al., 2020). In addition, previous studies have provided evidence that the treatment of breast cancer with first-generation non-steroidal anti-androgenic medications, such as flutamide and bicalutamide, reduces the development of several cancers (Yuan et al., 2019; Anestis et al., 2020). In a recent study carried out by Park and colleagues, treatment of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells with 30 µM enzalutamide blocked AR nuclear localization (Park et al., 2019). Treating breast cancer cell lines with enzalutamide lowers the expression of several cell cycle proteins that promote cell cycle progression and increases the expression of the cell cycle inhibitor, P27 (Xia et al., 2019). It is interesting, though, this AR antagonist had more effect on MDA-MB-231 cells than on MDA-MB-453 cells when taking into consideration that the former cells express little AR compared with the high expression of AR in the LAR cell line (McGhan et al., 2014; Thike et al., 2014; Al-Othman et al., 2020). Interestingly, DHT induces dysregulation of the expression of a larger number of

microRNA molecules in MDA-MB-231 cells in comparison to MDA-MB-453 cells (Ahram et al., 2017; Al-Othman et al., 2017). Our findings revealed that miR-26b reduced cell proliferation in the LAR-positive TNBC MDA-MB-453 cells, thus being compatible with Tan et al., which found that estrogen suppressed the expression of miR-26a and miR-26b in ER+ breast cancer cells. At the same time, miR-26a/b deletion boosted the growth of ER+ breast cancer cells and thus proved the role of miR-26b in growth inhibition (Tan et al., 2014). In our research, we found that MDA-MB-453 cells that were transfected with miR-26b increased the chemoresponse of cells toward doxorubicin and thus concomitant with Wang et al. In their research on human colorectal cancers, they revealed that miR-26b increased the sensitivity of colorectal cancer cells to 5-FU *in vitro* and boosted its efficacy via inhibiting the expression of the P-gp (Wang et al., 2018).

Overexpression of anti-apoptotic genes *mcl1* and *bcl2* have been reported in various cancers (Pilling & Hwang, 2019). Moreover, the role of *mcl1* in drug resistance has been previously reported (Hutchinson et al., 2018). Our findings revealed that miR-26b decreased the expression of *mcl1* and *bcl2* in MDA-MB-453 cells only and thus suggested that miR-26b might serve as a tumour suppressor. By downregulation, *mcl1* and *bcl2* thus activate the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis and increase the activity of executive caspases; caspase 3/7.

CHAPTER VI

Conclusions

Currently, the only therapeutic option for advanced TNBC is non-specific cytotoxic chemotherapy. The findings presented here offer a better understanding of the mechanism of androgen-induced chemoresistance and may facilitate the identification of alternative therapeutic interventions in TNBC that are positive for the downstream AR signaling pathway. AR-targeted therapies may allow patients with advanced or metastatic TNBC to be treated with less toxic endocrine drugs.

Figure 28

Summary of the effect of DHT, Enzalutamide and miR-26b on apoptosis



DHT increases anti-apoptosis genes (mcl1 and bcl2), inhibits Bax/Bak that will inhibit MOMP from releasing cytochrome c, which causes escape from apoptosis and cell survival. On the other hand, enzalutamide and miR-26b increases cell sensitivity by sensitizing TNBC to apoptosis through the apoptosis gene bid that activate bax and bak that activate MOMP to release cytochrome c that leads to activation of the executive caspases; caspase 3/7. That will appear in the late stages of apoptosis in DNA degradation detected by the TUNEL assay. This figure was created using BioRender.com

REFERENCES

- Aas, T., Børresen, A. L., Geisler, S., Smith-Sørensen, B., Johnsen, H., Varhaug, J. E., Akslen, L. A., & Lønning, P. E. (1996). Specific P53 mutations are associated with de novo resistance to doxorubicin in breast cancer patients. *Nature Medicine*, 2(7), 811–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm0796-811
- Ahmad, N., & Kumar, R. (2011). Steroid hormone receptors in cancer development: A target for cancer therapeutics. *Cancer Letters*, 300(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2010.09.008
- Ahram, M., Mustafa, E., Abu Hammad, S., Alhudhud, M., Bawadi, R., Tahtamouni, L., Khatib, F., & Zihlif, M. (2018). The cellular and molecular effects of the androgen receptor agonist, Cl-4AS-1, on breast cancer cells. *Endocrine Research*, 43(3), 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/07435800.2018.1455105
- Ahram, M., Bawadi, R., Abdullah, M. S., Alsafadi, D. B., Abaza, H., Abdallah, S., & Mustafa, E. (2021). Involvement of β-catenin in androgen-induced mesenchymal transition of breast MDA-MB-453 cancer cells. *Endocrine Research*, 46(3), 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/07435800.2021.1895829
- Ahram, M., Mustafa, E., Zaza, R., Abu Hammad, S., Alhudhud, M., Bawadi, R., & Zihlif, M. (2017). Differential expression and androgen regulation of microRNAs and metalloprotease 13 in breast cancer cells. *Cell Biology International*, 41(12), 1345–1355. https://doi.org/10.1002/cbin.10841
- Al-Momany, B., Hammad, H., & Ahram, M. (2021). Dihydrotestosterone induces chemo-resistance of triple-negative breast MDA-MB-231 cancer cells towards doxorubicin independent of ABCG2 and miR-328-3p. *Current Molecular Pharmacology*, *14*(5), 860–870. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874467214666210531170355
- Al-Othman, N. A., Hammad, H., & Ahram, M. (2017). Type of serum as a cell culture supplement influences regulation of MicroRNA expression in breast MDA-MB-231 cancer cells. *Jordan Medical Journal*, 51(4), 159–165.
- Al-Othman, N., Ahram, M., & Alqaraleh, M. (2020). Role of androgen and microRNA in triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Disease*, 39(1), 15–27. https://doi.org/10.3233/BD-190416
- Al-Othman, N., Hammad, H., & Ahram, M. (2018). Dihydrotestosterone regulates expression of CD44 via miR-328-3p in triple-negative breast cancer cells. *Gene*,

675(June), 128–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2018.06.094

- Alsawalha, L., Ahram, M., Abdullah, M. S., & Dalmizrak, O. (2022). Enzalutamide overcomes dihydrotestosterone induced chemo-resistance in triple-negative breast cancer cells via apoptosis. *Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871520622666220509123505
- Anestis, A., Zoi, I., Papavassiliou, A. G., & Karamouzis, M. V. (2020). Androgen receptor in breast cancer-clinical and preclinical research insights. *Molecules*, 25(2), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25020358
- Bachman, K. E., Blair, B. G., Brenner, K., Bardelli, A., Arena, S., Zhou, S., Hicks, J., De Marzo, A. M., Argani, P., & Park, B. H. (2004). p21(WAF1/CIP1) mediates the growth response to TGF-beta in human epithelial cells. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 3(2), 221–225. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.3.2.666
- Bai, X., Ni, J., Beretov, J., Graham, P., & Li, Y. (2021). Triple-negative breast cancer therapeutic resistance: Where is the Achilles' heel? *Cancer Letters*, 497, 100–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2020.10.016
- Baig, S., Seevasant, I., Mohamad, J., Mukheem, A., Huri, H. Z., & Kamarul, T. (2016). Potential of apoptotic pathway-targeted cancer therapeutic research: Where do we stand. *Cell Death and Disease*, *7*, e2058. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2015.275
- Balaji, S. A., Udupa, N., Chamallamudi, M. R., Gupta, V., & Rangarajan, A. (2016).
 Role of the drug transporter ABCC3 in breast cancer chemoresistance. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(5), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155013
- Barton, V. N., D'Amato, N. C., Gordon, M. A., Christenson, J. L., Elias, A., &
 Richer, J. K. (2015). Androgen receptor biology in triple negative breast cancer:
 a case for classification as AR+ or quadruple negative disease. *Hormones and Cancer*, 6(5–6), 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12672-015-0232-3
- Bauer, K. R., Brown, M., Cress, R. D., Parise, C. A., & Caggiano, V. (2007).
 Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)-negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2-negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype: A population-based study from the California Cancer Registry. *Cancer*, 109(9), 1721–1728. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22618
- Bing, L., Wu, J., Zhang, J., Chen, Y., Hong, Z., & Zu, H. (2015). DHT inhibits the Aβ25–35-induced apoptosis by regulation of Seladin-1, Survivin, XIAP, bax, and bcl-xl expression through a rapid PI3-K/Akt signaling in C6 glial cell lines.

Neurochemical Research, 40(1), 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-014-1463-3

- Bonnefoi, H., Grellety, T., Tredan, O., Saghatchian, M., Dalenc, F., Mailliez, A.,
 L'Haridon, T., Cottu, P., Abadie-Lacourtoisie, S., You, B., Mousseau, M.,
 Dauba, J., Del Piano, F., Desmoulins, I., Coussy, F., Madranges, N., Grenier, J.,
 Bidard, F. C., Proudhon, C., MacGrogan, G., Orsini, C., Pulido, M., Gonçalves,
 A. (2016). A phase II trial of abiraterone acetate plus prednisone in patients with
 triple-negative androgen receptor positive locally advanced or metastatic breast
 cancer (UCBG 12-1). *Annals of Oncology*, 27(5), 812–818.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdw067
- Brinkmann, A. O., Faber, P. W., van Rooij, H. C. J., Kuiper, G. G. J. M., Ris, C.,
 Klaassen, P., van der Korput, J. A. G. M., Voorhorst, M. M., van Laar, J. H.,
 Mulder, E., & Trapman, J. (1989). The human androgen receptor: Domain
 structure, genomic organization and regulation of expression. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 34(1–6), 307–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4731(89)90098-8
- Brusselmans, K., Vrolix, R., Verhoeven, G., & Swinnen, J. V. (2005). Induction of cancer cell apoptosis by flavonoids is associated with their ability to inhibit fatty acid synthase activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(7), 5636–5645. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M408177200
- Calin, G. A., Sevignani, C., Dumitru, C. D., Hyslop, T., Noch, E., Yendamuri, S., Shimizu, M., Rattan, S., Bullrich, F., Negrini, M., & Croce, C. M. (2004). Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(9), 2999–3004. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0307323101
- Cantini, L., Caselle, M., Forget, A., Zinovyev, A., Barillot, E., & Martignetti, L. (2017). A review of computational approaches detecting microRNAs involved in cancer. *Frontiers in Bioscience - Landmark*, 22(10), 1774–1791. https://doi.org/10.2741/4571
- Carneiro, B. A., & El-Deiry, W. S. (2020). Targeting apoptosis in cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 17(7), 395–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-020-0341-y
- Chavez, K. J., Garimella, S. V., & Lipkowitz, S. (2010). Triple negative breast cancer cell lines; One tool in the search for better treatment of triple negative

breast cancer. *Breast Disease*, 32(1–2), 35–48. https://doi.org/10.3233/BD-2010-0307

- Cheung, S. Y., Boey, Y. J. Y., Koh, V. C. Y., Thike, A. A., Lim, J. C. T., Iqbal, J., & Tan, P. H. (2015). Role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers in triplenegative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 152(3), 489– 498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-015-3485-1
- Chmelar, R., Buchanan, G., Need, E. F., Tilley, W., & Greenberg, N. M. (2007). Androgen receptor coregulators and their involvement in the development and progression of prostate cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, *120*(4), 719– 733. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.22365
- Chottanapund, S., Van Duursen, M. B. M., Navasumrit, P., Hunsonti, P., Timtavorn, S., Ruchirawat, M., & Van Den Berg, M. (2013). Effect of androgens on different breast cancer cells co-cultured with or without breast adipose fibroblasts. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, *138*, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.03.007
- Claessens, F., Denayer, S., Van Tilborgh, N., Kerkhofs, S., Helsen, C., & Haelens, A. (2008). Diverse roles of androgen receptor (AR) domains in AR-mediated signaling. *Nuclear Receptor Signaling*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1621/nrs.06008
- Climent, J., Dimitrow, P., Fridlyand, J., Palacios, J., Siebert, R., Albertson, D. G., Gray, J. W., Pinkel, D., Lluch, A., & Martinez-Climent, J. A. (2007). Deletion of chromosome 11q predicts response to anthracycline-based chemotherapy in early breast cancer. *Cancer Research*, 67(2), 818–826. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3307
- Cochrane, D. R., Bernales, S., Jacobsen, B. M., Cittelly, D. M., Howe, E. N.,
 D'Amato, N. C., Spoelstra, N. S., Edgerton, S. M., Jean, A., Guerrero, J.,
 Gómez, F., Medicherla, S., Alfaro, I. E., McCullagh, E., Jedlicka, P., Torkko, K.
 C., Thor, A. D., Elias, A. D., Protter, A. A., & Richer, J. K. (2014). Role of the
 androgen receptor in breast cancer and preclinical analysis of enzalutamide. *Breast Cancer Research*, *16*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3599
- D'Amato, N. C., Gordon, M. A., Babbs, B., Spoelstra, N. S., Butterfield, K. T. C., Torkko, K. C., Phan, V. T., Barton, V. N., Rogers, T. J., Sartorius, C. A., Elias, A., Gertz, J., Jacobsen, B. M., & Richer, J. K. (2016). Cooperative dynamics of AR and ER activity in breast cancer. *Molecular Cancer Research*, 14(11), 1054–1067. https://doi.org/10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0167

- D'Ippolito, E., & Iorio, M. V. (2013). MicroRNAs and triple negative breast cancer. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 14(11), 22202–22220. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms141122202
- Damiano, V., Brisotto, G., Borgna, S., di Gennaro, A., Armellin, M., Perin, T., Guardascione, M., Maestro, R., & Santarosa, M. (2017). Epigenetic silencing of miR-200c in breast cancer is associated with aggressiveness and is modulated by ZEB1. *Genes, Chromosomes & Cancer*, 56(2), 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.22422
- Davey, R. A., & Grossmann, M. (2016). Androgen receptor structure, function and biology: From bench to bedside. *The Clinical Biochemist. Reviews*, 37(1), 3–15. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27057074%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral .nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC4810760
- De Amicis, F., Thirugnansampanthan, J., Cui, Y., Beyer, A., Parra, I., Weigel, N. L., Herynk, M. H., Lewis, M. T., Chamness, G. C., Hilsenbeck, S. G., & Fuqua, S. A. W. (2010). Androgen receptor overexpression induces tamoxifen resistance in human breast cancer cells. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, *121*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-009-0436-8.
- Dent, R., Trudeau, M., Pritchard, K. I., Hanna, W. M., Kahn, H. K., Sawka, C. A., Lickley, L. A., Rawlinson, E., Sun, P., & Narod, S. A. (2007). Triple-negative breast cancer: Clinical features and patterns of recurrence. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13(15), 4429–4434. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-3045
- Doane, A. S., Danso, M., Lal, P., Donaton, M., Zhang, L., Hudis, C., & Gerald, W. L. (2006). An estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer subset characterized by a hormonally regulated transcriptional program and response to androgen. *Oncogene*, 25(28), 3994–4008. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209415
- Dong, S., & Alahari, S. K. (2020). Combination treatment of bicalutamide and curcumin has a strong therapeutic effect on androgen receptor-positive triplenegative breast cancers. *Anti-Cancer Drugs*, 31(4), 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.00000000000880
- Egeland, N. G., Lunde, S., Jonsdottir, K., Lende, T. H., Cronin-Fenton, D., Gilje, B., Janssen, E. A. M., & Søiland, H. (2015). The role of microRNAs as predictors of response to tamoxifen treatment in breast cancer patients. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *16*(10), 24243–24275. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms161024243

- El-Halawany, M. S., Ismail, H. M., Zeeneldin, A. A., Elfiky, A., Tantawy, M., Kobaisi, M. H., Hamed, I., & Abdel Wahab, A. H. A. (2015). Investigating the pretreatment miRNA expression patterns of advanced hepatocellular carcinoma patients in association with response to TACE treatment. *BioMed Research International*, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/649750
- Feng, J., Li, L., Zhang, N., Liu, J., Zhang, L., Gao, H., Wang, G., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, X., Liu, D., Lu, J., & Huang, B. (2017). Androgen and AR contribute to breast cancer development and metastasis: An insight of mechanisms. *Oncogene*, 36(20), 2775–2790. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2016.432
- Ferlay, J., Colombet, M., Soerjomataram, I., Mathers, C., Parkin, D. M., Piñeros, M., Znaor, A., & Bray, F. (2019). Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *International Journal of Cancer*, 144(8), 1941–1953. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31937
- Finlay-Schultz, J., & Sartorius, C. A. (2015). Steroid hormones, steroid receptors, and breast cancer stem cells. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 20(1–2), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-015-9340-5
- Fiocchetti, M., Ascenzi, P., & Marino, M. (2012). Neuroprotective effects of 17βestradiol rely on estrogen receptor membrane initiated signals. *Frontiers in Physiology*, 3, 73. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00073
- Gao, J., & Liu, Q. G. (2011). The role of miR-26 in tumors and normal tissues. Oncology Letters, 2(6), 1019–1023. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2011.413
- Garzon, R., Calin, G. A., & Croce, C. M. (2009). MicroRNAs in cancer. Annual Review of Medicine, 60, 167–179. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.med.59.053006.104707
- Gelmann, E. P. (2002). Molecular biology of the androgen receptor. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 20(13), 3001–3015. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2002.10.018
- Gerratana, L., Basile, D., Buono, G., De Placido, S., Giuliano, M., Minichillo, S.,
 Coinu, A., Martorana, F., De Santo, I., Del Mastro, L., De Laurentiis, M.,
 Puglisi, F., & Arpino, G. (2018). Androgen receptor in triple negative breast
 cancer: A potential target for the targetless subtype. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*,
 68(April), 102–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.06.005
- Gompel, A., & Plu-Bureau, G. (2018). Progesterone, progestins and the breast in menopause treatment. *Climacteric*, 21(4), 326–332.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13697137.2018.1476483

- Guedj, M., Marisa, L., De Reynies, A., Orsetti, B., Schiappa, R., Bibeau, F.,
 MacGrogan, G., Lerebours, F., Finetti, P., Longy, M., Bertheau, P., Bertrand, F.,
 Bonnet, F., Martin, A. L., Feugeas, J. P., Bièche, I., Lehmann-Che, J., Lidereau,
 R., Birnbaum, D., Bertucci, F., de The, H., Theillet, C. (2012). A refined
 molecular taxonomy of breast cancer. *Oncogene*, *31*(9), 1196–1206.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.301
- Hassan, M., Watari, H., Abualmaaty, A., Ohba, Y., & Sakuragi, N. (2014). Apoptosis and molecular targeting therapy in cancer. *BioMed Research International*, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/150845
- Heemers, H. V., & Tindall, D. J. (2007). Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: A diversity of functions converging on and regulating the AR transcriptional complex. *Endocrine Reviews*, 28(7), 778–808. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2007-0019
- Heinlein, C. A., & Chang, C. (2002). Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: An overview. *Endocrine Reviews*, 23(2), 175–200. https://doi.org/10.1210/edrv.23.2.0460
- Hickey, T. E., Robinson, J. L. L., Carroll, J. S., & Tilley, W. D. (2012). Minireview: The androgen receptor in breast tissues: Growth inhibitor, tumor suppressor, oncogene? *Molecular Endocrinology*, 26(8), 1252–1267. https://doi.org/10.1210/me.2012-1107
- Hosseinahli, N., Aghapour, M., Duijf, P. H. G., & Baradaran, B. (2018). Treating cancer with microRNA replacement therapy: A literature review. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 233(8), 5574–5588. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.26514
- Housman, G., Byler, S., Heerboth, S., Lapinska, K., Longacre, M., Snyder, N., & Sarkar, S. (2014). Drug resistance in cancer: An overview. *Cancers*, 6(3), 1769– 1792. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers6031769
- Hutchinson, K. E., Nixon, M. J., Estrada, M. V., Sánchez, V., Sanders, M. E., Lee, T., Gómez, H., Lluch, A., Pérez-fidalgo, A., Wolf, M. M., Andrejeva, G., Jeffrey, C., Fesik, S. W., Arteaga, C. L., Lee, K. min, Giltnane, J. M., Balko, J. M., Schwarz, L. J., Guerrero-Zotano, A. L., Hutchinson, K. E., Nixon, M. J., Estrada, M. V., Sanchez, V., Sanders, M. E., Lee, T., Gomez, H., Lluch, A., Perez-Fidalgo, A., Wolf, M. M., Andrejeva, G., Rathmell, J. C., Fesik, S. W., Arteaga, C. L. (2018). MYC and MCL1 cooperatively promote chemotherapy-

resistant breast cancer stem cells via regulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation. *Cell Metabolism*, *26*(4), 633–647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.009

- Inao, T., Iida, Y., Moritani, T., Okimoto, T., Tanino, R., Kotani, H., & Harada, M. (2018). Bcl-2 inhibition sensitizes triple-negative human breast cancer cells to doxorubicin. *Oncotarget*, 9(39), 25545–25556. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.25370
- Iqbal, M. A., Arora, S., Prakasam, G., Calin, G. A., & Syed, M. A. (2019). MicroRNA in lung cancer: role, mechanisms, pathways and therapeutic relevance. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 70(July), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2018.07.003
- Jay, C., Nemunaitis, J., Chen, P., Fulgham, P., & Tong, A. W. (2007). miRNA profiling for diagnosis and prognosis of human cancer. DNA and Cell Biology, 26(5), 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1089/dna.2006.0554
- Jiang, H. S., Kuang, X. Y., Sun, W. L., Xu, Y., Zheng, Y. Z., Liu, Y. R., Lang, G. T., Qiao, F., Hu, X., & Shao, Z. M. (2016). Androgen receptor expression predicts different clinical outcomes for breast cancer patients stratified by hormone receptor status. *Oncotarget*, 7(27), 41285–41293. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.9778
- Jiang, Y. Z., Ma, D., Suo, C., Shi, J., Xue, M., Hu, X., Xiao, Y., Yu, K. Da, Liu, Y.
 R., Yu, Y., Zheng, Y., Li, X., Zhang, C., Hu, P., Zhang, J., Hua, Q., Zhang, J.,
 Hou, W., Ren, L., Bao, D., Li, B., Yang, J., Yao, L., Zuo, W-J., Zhao, S., Gong,
 Y., Ren, Y-X., Zhao, Y-X., Yang, Y-S., Niu, Z., Cao, Z-G., Stover, D. G.,
 Verschraegen, C., Kaklamani, V., Daemen, A., Benson, J. R., Takabe, K., Bai,
 F., Li, D-Q., Wang, P., Shi, L., Huang, W., Shao, Z-M. (2019). Genomic and
 transcriptomic landscape of triple-negative breast cancers: Subtypes and
 treatment strategies. *Cancer Cell*, 35(3), 428-440.e5.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2019.02.001
- Kennedy, B. J. (1958). Fluoxymesterone therapy in advanced breast cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 259(14), 673–675. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM195810022591404
- Koenig, H., Goldstone, A. D., & Lu, C. Y. (1983). Beta-adrenergic stimulation of Ca²⁺ fluxes, endocytosis, hexose transport, and amino acid transport in mouse kidney cortex is mediated by polyamine synthesis. *Proceedings of the National*

Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 80(23), 7210–7214. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.80.23.7210

- Labrie, F., Luu-The, V., Labrie, C., Bélanger, A., Simard, J., Lin, S. X., & Pelletier, G. (2003). Endocrine and intracrine sources of androgens in women: Inhibition of breast cancer and other roles of androgens and their precursor dehydroepiandrosterone. *Endocrine Reviews*, 24(2), 152–182. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2001-0031
- Lamkanfi, M., & Kanneganti, T. D. (2010). Caspase-7: A protease involved in apoptosis and inflammation. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 42(1), 21–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2009.09.013
- Langlois, V. S., Zhang, D., Cooke, G. M., & Trudeau, V. L. (2010). Evolution of steroid-5alpha-reductases and comparison of their function with 5betareductase. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 166(3), 489–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.08.004
- Lee, R. C., Feinbaum, R. L., & Ambros, V. (1993). The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell*, 75(5), 843–854. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(93)90529-y
- Lee, Y. M., Oh, M. H., Go, J. H., Han, K., & Choi, S. Y. (2020). Molecular subtypes of triple-negative breast cancer: understanding of subtype categories and clinical implication. *Genes and Genomics*, 42(12), 1381–1387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13258-020-01014-7
- Lehmann, B. D., Bauer, J. A., Chen, X., Sanders, M. E., Chakravarthy, A. B., Shyr, Y., & Pietenpol, J. A. (2011). Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *121*(7), 2750–2767. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI45014
- Leone, G., Buttigliero, C., Pisano, C., Di Stefano, R. F., Tabbò, F., Turco, F., Vignani, F., Scagliotti, G. V., Di Maio, M., & Tucci, M. (2020). Bipolar androgen therapy in prostate cancer: Current evidences and future perspectives. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 152, 102994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.102994
- Li, X., Pan, X., Fu, X., Yang, Y., Chen, J., & Lin, W. (2019). MicroRNA-26a: An emerging regulator of renal biology and disease. *Kidney and Blood Pressure Research*, 44(3), 287–297. https://doi.org/10.1159/000499646

- Liao, J. K. (2007). Steroid hormones. In *Endothelial Biomedicine*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511546198.181
- Liao, Z. G., Tang, T., Guan, X. J., Dong, W., Zhang, J., Zhao, G. W., Yang, M., & Liang, X. L. (2016). Improvement of transmembrane transport mechanism study of imperatorin on P-glycoprotein-mediated drug transport. *Molecules*, 21(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules21121606
- Liu, C. (2012). MicroRNA Regulation of Prostate Cancer Stem / Progenitor Cells and Prostate Cancer Development.
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT method. *Methods*, 25(4), 402–408. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Lu, J., Getz, G., Miska, E. A., Alvarez-Saavedra, E., Lamb, J., Peck, D., Sweet-Cordero, A., Ebert, B. L., Mak, R. H., Ferrando, A. A., Downing, J. R., Jacks, T., Horvitz, H. R., & Golub, T. R. (2005). MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. *Nature*, *435*(7043), 834–838. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03702
- Luo, M., Shen, D., Wang, W., & Xian, J. (2015). Aberrant expression of microRNA-26b and its prognostic potential in human cervical cancer. *International Journal* of Clinical and Experimental Pathology, 8(5), 5542–5548.
- Lyons, T. G., & Traina, T. A. (2017). Androgen receptor-targeted therapy for breast cancer. *Current Breast Cancer Reports*, 9(4), 242–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12609-017-0261-8
- Lyu, S., Yu, Q., Ying, G., Wang, S., Wang, Y., Zhang, J., & Niu, Y. (2014).
 Androgen receptor decreases CMYC and KRAS expression by upregulating let-7a expression in ER-, PR-, AR+ breast cancer. *International Journal of Oncology*, 44(1), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2013.2151
- Ma, J., Dong, C., & Ji, C. (2010). MicroRNA and drug resistance. *Cancer Gene Therapy*, 17(8), 523–531. https://doi.org/10.1038/cgt.2010.18
- Ma, X., Zhou, J., Zhang, C. X., Li, X. Y., Li, N., Ju, R. J., Shi, J. F., Sun, M. G., Zhao, W. Y., Mu, L. M., Yan, Y., & Lu, W. L. (2013). Modulation of drugresistant membrane and apoptosis proteins of breast cancer stem cells by targeting berberine liposomes. *Biomaterials*, 34(18), 4452–4465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.02.066

Masiello, D., Cheng, S., Bubley, G. J., Lu, M. L., & Balk, S. P. (2002). Bicalutamide

functions as an androgen receptor antagonist by assembly of a transcriptionally inactive receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(29), 26321–26326. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203310200

- Massie, C. E., Adryan, B., Barbosa-Morais, N. L., Lynch, A. G., Tran, M. G., Neal, D. E., & Mills, I. G. (2007). New androgen receptor genomic targets show an interaction with the ETS1 transcription factor. *EMBO Reports*, 8(9), 871–878. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7401046
- Matutino, A., Joy, A. A., Brezden-Masley, C., Chia, S., & Verma, S. (2018).
 Hormone receptor-positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer: Redrawing the lines. *Current Oncology*, 25(June), S131–S141.
 https://doi.org/10.3747/co.25.4000
- McFarlane, T., Zajac, J. D., & Cheung, A. S. (2018). Gender-affirming hormone therapy and the risk of sex hormone-dependent tumours in transgender individuals—A systematic review. *Clinical Endocrinology*, 89(6), 700–711. https://doi.org/10.1111/cen.13835
- McGhan, L. J., McCullough, A. E., Protheroe, C. A., Dueck, A. C., Lee, J. J., Nunez-Nateras, R., Castle, E. P., Gray, R. J., Wasif, N., Goetz, M. P., Hawse, J. R., Henry, T. J., Barrett, M. T., Cunliffe, H. E., & Pockaj, B. A. (2014). Androgen receptor-positive triple negative breast cancer: A unique breast cancer subtype. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*, *21*(2), 361–367. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-013-3260-7
- McNamara, K. M., Yoda, T., Miki, Y., Chanplakorn, N., Wongwaisayawan, S., Incharoen, P., Kongdan, Y., Wang, L., Takagi, K., Mayu, T., Nakamura, Y., Suzuki, T., Nemoto, N., Miyashita, M., Tamaki, K., Ishida, T., Ohuchi, N., & Sasano, H. (2013). Androgenic pathway in triple negative invasive ductal tumors: Its correlation with tumor cell proliferation. *Cancer Science*, *104*(5), 639–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.12121
- Mehta, J., Asthana, S., Mandal, C. C., & Saxena, S. (2015). A molecular analysis provides novel insights into androgen receptor signalling in breast cancer. *PLoS ONE*, 10(3), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120622
- Naderi, A., & Hughes-Davies, L. (2008). A functionally significant cross-talk between androgen receptor and ErbB2 pathways in estrogen receptor negative breast cancer. *Neoplasia*, 10(6), 542–548. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.08274

Nadiminty, N., Tummala, R., Liu, C., Yang, J., Lou, W., Evans, C. P., & Gao, A. C.

(2013). NF-kB2/p52 induces resistance to enzalutamide in prostate cancer: Role of androgen receptor and its variants. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, *12*(8), 1629–1637. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-0027

- Nagesh, P. K. B., Chowdhury, P., Hatami, E., Boya, V. K. N., Kashyap, V. K., Khan, S., Hafeez, B. B., Chauhan, S. C., Jaggi, M., & Yallapu, M. M. (2018). miRNA-205 nanoformulation sensitizes prostate cancer cells to chemotherapy. *Cancers*, *10*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers10090289
- Nakano, K., Miki, Y., Hata, S., Ebata, A., Takagi, K., Mcnamara, K. M., Sakurai,
 M., Masuda, M., Hirakawa, H., Ishida, T., Suzuki, T., Ohuchi, N., & Sasano, H.
 (2013). Identification of androgen-responsive microRNAs and androgen-related
 genes in breast cancer. *Anticancer Research*, 33(11), 4811–4820.
- Nedeljković, M., & Damjanović, A. (2019). Mechanisms of chemotherapy resistance in triple-negative breast cancer-How we can rise to the challenge. *Cells*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8090957
- Ni, M., Chen, Y., Lim, E., Wimberly, H., Bailey, S. T., Imai, Y., Rimm, D. L., Shirley Liu, X., & Brown, M. (2011). Targeting androgen receptor in estrogen receptor-negative breast cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 20(1), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.026
- Osguthorpe, D. J., & Hagler, A. T. (2011). Mechanism of androgen receptor antagonism by bicalutamide in the treatment of prostate cancer. *Biochemistry*, 50(19), 4105–4113. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi102059z
- Oyesanya, R. A., Dasgupta, S., Dent, P., & Grant, S. (2012). Targeting Mcl-1 for the therapy of cancer. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*, 20(10), 1397– 1411. https://doi.org/10.1517/13543784.2011.609167.
- Pan, S. T., Li, Z. L., He, Z. X., Qiu, J. X., & Zhou, S. F. (2016). Molecular mechanisms for tumour resistance to chemotherapy. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology*, 43(8), 723–737. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1681.12581
- Park, I. H., Yang, H. N., Jeon, S. Y., Hwang, J. A., Kim, M. K., Kong, S. Y., Shim, S. H., & Lee, K. S. (2019). Anti-tumor activity of BET inhibitors in androgenreceptor-expressing triple-negative breast cancer. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49366-9
- Pervaiz, R., Tosun, Ö., Besim, H., & Serakinci, N. (2018). Risk factor assessment for breast cancer in North Cyprus: a comprehensive case-control study of Turkish

Cypriot women. *Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences*, 48(2), 293–304. https://doi.org/10.3906/sag-1709-54

- Piasecka, D., Braun, M., Kordek, R., Sadej, R., & Romanska, H. (2018). MicroRNAs in regulation of triple-negative breast cancer progression. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, *144*(8), 1401–1411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-018-2689-2
- Pietri, E., Conteduca, V., Andreis, D., Massa, I., Melegari, E., Sarti, S., Cecconetto, L., Schirone, A., Bravaccini, S., Serra, P., Fedeli, A., Maltoni, R., Amadori, D., De Giorgi, U., & Rocca, A. (2016). Androgen receptor signaling pathways as a target for breast cancer treatment. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 23(10), R485–R498. https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-16-0190
- Pilling, A. B., & Hwang, C. (2019). Targeting prosurvival BCL2 signaling through Akt blockade sensitizes castration-resistant prostate cancer cells to enzalutamide. *Prostate*, 79(11), 1347–1359. https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.23843
- Porter, B. A., Ortiz, M. A., Bratslavsky, G., & Kotula, L. (2019). Structure and function of the nuclear receptor superfamily and current targeted therapies of prostate cancer. *Cancers*, 11(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11121852
- Prat, A., Pineda, E., Adamo, B., Galván, P., Fernández, A., Gaba, L., Díez, M., Viladot, M., Arance, A., & Muñoz, M. (2015). Clinical implications of the intrinsic molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Breast*, 24, S26–S35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2015.07.008
- Provenzano, E., Ulaner, G. A., & Chin, S. F. (2018). Molecular classification of breast cancer. *PET Clinics*, 13(3), 325–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpet.2018.02.004
- Rasool, M., Malik, A., Zahid, S., Basit Ashraf, M. A., Qazi, M. H., Asif, M., Zaheer, A., Arshad, M., Raza, A., & Jamal, M. S. (2016). Non-coding RNAs in cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Non-Coding RNA Research*, 1(1), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ncrna.2016.11.001
- Risbridger, G. P., Davis, I. D., Birrell, S. N., & Tilley, W. D. (2010). Breast and prostate cancer: More similar than different. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 10(3), 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2795
- Rodriguez-Vida, A., Galazi, M., Rudman, S., Chowdhury, S., & Sternberg, C. N. (2015). Enzalutamide for the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 3325–3339.

http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/DDDT.S69433

- Rogers, C., Erkes, D. A., Nardone, A., Aplin, A. E., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., & Alnemri, E. S. (2019). Gasdermin pores permeabilize mitochondria to augment caspase-3 activation during apoptosis and inflammasome activation. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09397-2
- Rokhlin, O. W., Taghiyev, A. F., Guseva, N. V., Glover, R. A., Chumakov, P. M., Kravchenko, J. E., & Cohen, M. B. (2005). Androgen regulates apoptosis induced by TNFR family ligands via multiple signaling pathways in LNCaP. *Oncogene*, 24(45), 6773–6784. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208833
- Russell, D. W., & Wilson, J. D. (1994). Steroid 5 alpha-reductase: two genes/two enzymes. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 63, 25–61. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.bi.63.070194.000325
- Sabit, H., Cevik, E., Tombuloglu, H., Abdel-Ghany, S., Tombuloglu, G., & Esteller, M. (2021). Triple negative breast cancer in the era of miRNA. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, 157, 103196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103196
- Sadakierska-Chudy, A. (2020). MicroRNAs: Diverse mechanisms of action and their potential applications as cancer epi-therapeutics. *Biomolecules*, 10(9), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom10091285
- Sahlberg, K. K., Bottai, G., Naume, B., Burwinkel, B., Calin, G. A., Børresen-Dale, A. L., & Santarpia, L. (2015). A serum MicroRNA signature predicts tumor relapse and survival in triple-negative breast cancer patients. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(5), 1207–1214. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2011
- Santer, F. R., Erb, H. H. H., Oh, S. J., Handle, F., Feiersinger, G. E., Luef, B., Bu, H., Schäfer, G., Ploner, C., Egger, M., Rane, J. K., Maitland, N. J., Klocker, H., Eder, I. E., & Culig, Z. (2015). Mechanistic rationale for MCL1 inhibition during androgen deprivation therapy. *Oncotarget*, 6(8), 6105–6122. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.3368
- Santos, C. R., & Schulze, A. (2012). Lipid metabolism in cancer. *FEBS Journal*, 279(15), 2610–2623. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2012.08644.x
- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7), 671–675. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2089

Shahar, N., & Larisch, S. (2020). Inhibiting the inhibitors: Targeting anti-apoptotic

proteins in cancer and therapy resistance. *Drug Resistance Updates*, 52(May), 100712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drup.2020.100712

- Shankar, E., Franco, D., Iqbal, O., Moreton, S., Kanwal, R., & Gupta, S. (2020). Dual targeting of EZH2 and androgen receptor as a novel therapy for castrationresistant prostate cancer. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 404(August), 115200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2020.115200
- Shen, Y., Yang, F., Zhang, W., Song, W., Liu, Y., & Guan, X. (2018). The androgen receptor promotes cellular proliferation by suppression of G-protein coupled estrogen receptor signaling in triple-negative breast cancer. *Cellular Physiology* and Biochemistry, 43(5), 2047–2061. https://doi.org/10.1159/000484187
- Shimizu, K., Gi, M., Suzuki, S., North, B. J., Watahiki, A., Fukumoto, S., Asara, J. M., Tokunaga, F., Wei, W., & Inuzuka, H. (2021). Interplay between protein acetylation and ubiquitination controls MCL1 protein stability. *Cell Reports*, 37(6), 109988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109988
- Simões-Wüst, A. P., Schürpf, T., Hall, J., Stahel, R. A., & Zangemeister-Wittke, U. (2002). Bcl-2/bcl-xL bispecific antisense treatment sensitizes breast carcinoma cells to doxorubicin, paclitaxel and cyclophosphamide. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 76(2), 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020543004400
- Sun, Y., & Peng, Z. L. (2009). Programmed cell death and cancer. *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 85(1001), 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1136/pgmj.2008.072629
- Sundquist, T., Moravec, R., Niles, A., O'Brien, M., Riss, T., & Corporation, P. (2006). Timing your apoptosis assays. *Protocols and Applications Guide*, 16, 18–21. www.promega.com/paguide/chap3.html
- Suzuki, T., Darnel, A. D., Akahira, J. I., Ariga, N., Ogawa, S., Kaneko, C., Takeyama, J., Moriya, T., & Sasano, H. (2001). 5α-Reductases in human breast carcinoma: Possible modulator of in situ androgenic actions. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 86(5), 2250–2257. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.86.5.2250
- Tan, S., Ding, K., Li, R., Zhang, W., Li, G., Kong, X., Qian, P., Lobie, P.E., Zhu, T. (2014). Identification of miR-26 as a key mediator of estrogen stimulated cell proliferation by targeting CHD1, GREB1 and KPNA2. *Breast Cancer Res, 16*, R4. https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3644

Tan, M. E., Li, J., Xu, H. E., Melcher, K., & Yong, E. L. (2015). Androgen receptor:

Structure, role in prostate cancer and drug discovery. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica*, *36*(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2014.18

- Tang, X., Lin, C. C., Spasojevic, I., Iversen, E. S., Chi, J. T., & Marks, J. R. (2014).
 A joint analysis of metabolomics and genetics of breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, *16*(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13058-014-0415-9
- Tarulli, G. A., Butler, L. M., Tilley, W. D., & Hickey, T. E. (2014). Bringing androgens up a NOTCH in breast cancer. *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, 21(4). https://doi.org/10.1530/ERC-14-0248
- Thike, A. A., Chong, L. Y. Z., Cheok, P. Y., Li, H. H., Yip, G. W. C., Bay, B. H., Tse, G. M. K., Iqbal, J., & Tan, P. H. (2014). Loss of androgen receptor expression predicts early recurrence in triple-negative and basal-like breast cancer. *Modern Pathology*, 27(3), 352–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2013.145
- Tilley, W. D., Marcelli, M., Wilson, J. D., & McPhaul, M. J. (1989).
 Characterization and expression of a cDNA encoding the human androgen receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86(1), 327–331. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.1.327
- Torre, L. A., Bray, F., Siegel, R. L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J., & Jemal, A. (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 65(2), 87–108. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21262
- Traina, T. A., Miller, K., Yardley, D. A., Eakle, J., Schwartzberg, L. S.,
 O'Shaughnessy, J., Gradishar, W., Schmid, P., Winer, E., Kelly, C., Nanda, R.,
 Gucalp, A., Awada, A., Garcia-Estevez, L., Trudeau, M. E., Steinberg, J.,
 Uppal, H., Tudor, I. C., Peterson, A., & Cortes, J. (2018). Enzalutamide for the
 treatment of androgen receptor-expressing triple-negative breast cancer. *Journal*of *Clinical Oncology*, *36*(9), 884–890.

https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.71.3495

Tran, C., Ouk, S., Clegg, N. J., Chen, Y., Watson, P. A., Arora, V., Wongvipat, J.,
Smith-Jones, P. M., Yoo, D., Kwon, A., Wasielewska, T., Welsbie, D., Chen, C.
D., Higano, C. S., Beer, T. M., Hung, D. T., Scher, H. I., Jung, M. E., &
Sawyers, C. L. (2009). Development of a second-generation antiandrogen for
treatment of advanced prostate cancer. *Science*, *324*(5928), 787–790.
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1168175

Ueda, T., Bruchovsky, N., & Sadar, M. D. (2002). Activation of the androgen

receptor N-terminal domain by interleukin-6 via MAPK and STAT3 signal transduction pathways. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(9), 7076–7085. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108255200

- van Meer, G., Voelker, D. R., & Feigenson, G. W. (2009). Membrane lipids: where they are. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 101(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2330
- van Steensel, B., Jenster, G., Damm, K., Brinkmann, A. O., & van Driel, R. (1995). Domains of the human androgen receptor and glucocorticoid receptor involved in binding to the nuclear matrix. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 57(3), 465– 478. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.240570312
- Vasan, N., Baselga, J., & Hyman, D. M. (2019). A view on drug resistance in cancer. *Nature*, 575(7782), 299–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1730-1
- Végran, F., Boidot, R., Oudin, C., Riedinger, J. M., Bonnetain, F., & Lizard-Nacol, S. (2006). Overexpression of caspase-3s splice variant in locally advanced breast carcinoma is associated with poor response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *12*(19), 5794–5800. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0725
- Virág, L., Robaszkiewicz, A., Rodriguez-Vargas, J. M., & Oliver, F. J. (2013). Poly(ADP-ribose) signaling in cell death. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 34(6), 1153–1167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2013.01.007
- Vuong, D., Simpson, P. T., Green, B., Cummings, M. C., & Lakhani, S. R. (2014b). Molecular classification of breast cancer. *Virchows Archiv*, 465(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00428-014-1593-7

Wang, B., Lu, F.-Y., Shi, R.-H., Feng, Y.-D., Zhao, X.-D., Lu, Z.-P., Xiao, L., Zhou, G.-Q., Qiu, J.-M., & Cheng, C.-E. (2018). MiR-26b regulates 5-FU-resistance in human colorectal cancer via down-regulation of Pgp. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 8(12), 2518–2527.
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30662808%0Ahttp://www.pubmedcentral

.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC6325481

Wang, L., Su, J., Zhao, Z., Hou, Y., Yin, X., Zheng, N., Zhou, X., Yan, J., Xia, J., & Wang, Z. (2017a). MiR-26b reverses temozolomide resistance via targeting
Wee1 in glioma cells. *Cell Cycle*, *16*(20), 1954–1964.
https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2017.1367071

Wang, Q., Cheng, Y., Wang, Y., Fan, Y., Li, C., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Dong, Q., Ma,

Y., Teng, Y-e., Qu, X., & Liu, Y. (2017). Tamoxifen reverses epithelialmesenchymal transition by demethylating miR-200c in triple-negative breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer*, *17*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-017-3457-4

- Wang, Qianben, Li, W., Liu, X. S., Carroll, J. S., Jänne, O. A., Keeton, E. K., Chinnaiyan, A. M., Pienta, K. J., & Brown, M. (2007). A hierarchical network of transcription factors governs androgen receptor-dependent prostate cancer growth. *Molecular Cell*, 27(3), 380–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.05.041
- Wang, Y., He, X., Yu, Q., & Eng, C. (2013). Androgen receptor-induced tumor suppressor, KLLN, inhibits breast cancer growth and transcriptionally activates p53/p73-mediated: Apoptosis in breast carcinomas. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 22(11), 2263–2272. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt077
- Williams, A. E. (2008). Functional aspects of animal microRNAs. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65(4), 545–562. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-007-7355-9
- Wuillème-Toumi, S., Robillard, N., Gomez, P., Moreau, P., Le Gouill, S., Avet-Loiseau, H., Harousseau, J. L., Amiot, M., & Bataille, R. (2005). Mcl-1 is overexpressed in multiple myeloma and associated with relapse and shorter survival. *Leukemia*, 19(7), 1248–1252. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.leu.2403784
- Xia, X., Huang, C., Liao, Y., Liu, Y., He, J., Guo, Z., Jiang, L., Wang, X., Liu, J., & Huang, H. (2019). Inhibition of USP14 enhances the sensitivity of breast cancer to enzalutamide. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Cancer Research*, 38(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1227-7
- Yao, K., Wu, J., Zhang, J., Bo, J., Hong, Z., & Zu, H. (2016). Protective effect of DHT on apoptosis induced by U18666A via PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in C6 glial cell lines. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, *36*(5), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-015-0263-x
- Yu, X., Yi, P., Hamilton, R. A., Shen, H., Chen, M., Foulds, C. E., Mancini, M. A., Ludtke, S. J., Wang, Z., & O'Malley, B. W. (2020). Structural insights of transcriptionally active, full-length androgen receptor coactivator complexes. *Molecular Cell*, 79(5), 812-823.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2020.06.031
- Yuan, F., Hankey, W., Wu, D., Wang, H., Somarelli, J., Armstrong, A. J., Huang, J., Chen, Z., & Wang, Q. (2019). Molecular determinants for enzalutamide-

induced transcription in prostate cancer. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 47(19), 10104–10114. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz790

- Zhao, B., Zhang, J., Chen, X., Xu, H., Huang, B., & Huang, B. (2019). Mir-26b inhibits growth and resistance to paclitaxel chemotherapy by silencing the CDC6 gene in gastric cancer. *Archives of Medical Science*, 15(2), 498–503. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2018.73315
- Zhao, N., Wang, R., Zhou, L., Zhu, Y., Gong, J., & Zhuang, S. M. (2014). MicroRNA-26b suppresses the NF-κB signaling and enhances the chemosensitivity of hepatocellular carcinoma cells by targeting TAK1 and TAB3. In *Molecular Cancer* (Vol. 13, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-13-35
- Zhou, J., Ng, S., Adesanya-Famuiya, O., Anderson, K., & Bondy, C. A. (2000). Testosterone inhibits estrogen-induced mammary epithelial proliferation and suppresses estrogen receptor expression. *The FASEB Journal*, 14(12), 1725– 1730. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.99-0863com
- Zhu, A., Li, Y., Song, W., Xu, Y., Yang, F., Zhang, W., Yin, Y., & Guan, X. (2016). Antiproliferative effect of androgen receptor inhibition in mesenchymal stemlike triple-negative breast cancer. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 38(3), 1003–1014. https://doi.org/10.1159/000443052
- Zhu, H., Wu, H., Liu, X., Evans, B. R., Medina, D. J., Liu, C.-G., & Yang, J.-M. (2008). Role of MicroRNA miR-27a and miR-451 in the regulation of MDR1/P-glycoprotein expression in human cancer cells. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 76(5), 582–588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2008.06.007
- Zhu, Y., Liu, C., Armstrong, C., Lou, W., Sandher, A., & Gao, A. C. (2015). Antiandrogens inhibit ABCB1 efflux and ATPase activity and reverse docetaxel resistance in advanced prostate cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 21(18), 4133–4142. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0269

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Enzalutamide Overcomes Dihydrotestosterone Induced Chemo-Resistance In Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Cells via Apoptosis

Laila Alsawalha¹, Mamoun Ahram², Mohammad S Abdullah², Ozlem Dalmizrak¹

• PMID: 35579133

• DOI: <u>10.2174/1871520622666220509123505</u>

• Abstract

Background: Triple-negative breast cancer is challenging to treat due to its heterogeneity and lack of therapeutic targets. Hence, systemic chemotherapy is still the mainstay in TNBC treatment. Unfortunately, patients commonly develop chemo-

resistance. Androgen signaling through its receptor is an essential player in breast cancer where it has been shown to confer chemo-resistance to TNBC cells Objective: To elucidate the mechanistic effects of enzalutamide in the chemoresponse of TNBC cells to doxorubicin through the apoptosis pathway.

Method: MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 cells were used as model systems of TNBC. Cell viability and apoptosis were investigated upon treatment of cells with doxorubicin in the presence of dihydrotestosterone (DHT) and/or enzalutamide. Caspase 3/7 activity and TUNEL assays were performed to assess the induction of apoptosis. The expression of apoptosis-regulatory genes were assayed by qPCR for the detection of expression changes.

Results: Enzalutamide decreased the viability of MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB- 453 cells and reduced DHT-induced chemo-resistance of both cell lines. It also increased the chemo-sensitivity towards doxorubicin in MDA-MB-231 cells. Increasing DNA

degradation and caspase 3/7 activity were concomitant with these outcomes. Moreover, enzalutamide downregulated the expression of the anti-apoptosis genes, mcl1 and bcl2, in MDA-MB-231 cells. Moreover, increase the pro-apoptotic gene bid. On the other hand, DHT upregulated the expression of the anti-apoptosis genes, mcl1 and bcl2, in both cell lines.

Conclusion: DHT increases the expression of the anti-apoptosis mcl1 and bcl2 in the TNBC cells, presumably leading to cell survival via the prevention of doxorubicin-induced apoptosis. On the other hand, enzalutamide may sensitize the cells to doxorubicin through downregulation of the bid/bcl2/mcl1 axis that normally

activates the executive caspases, caspase 3/7. The activities of the latter enzymes were apparent in DNA degradation at the late.

Keywords: DNA degradation; Triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC); androgen receptor; caspase 3/7; chemoresponse;; dihydrotestosterone(DHT); enzalutamide. Copyright© Bentham Science Publishers; For any queries, please email at epub@benthamscience.net.

Appendix B

Turnitin Similarity Report



Appendix C

CV

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name	Laila	Surname	Sawalha
Place of Birth	Jordan	Date of Birth	9/7/1980
Nationality	Jordanian	Tel	00962775389344
E-mail	Laila.sawalha@gmail.com		

Educational Level

	Name of the Institution where she was	Graduation	
	graduated	year	
Postgraduate/Specia	Postgraduate/Specia Health Science Institute		
lization			
Masters	Yarmouk University	2005	
Undergraduate	Yarmouk University	2002	
High school	Ministry of Education/Scientific Stream	1998	

Job Experience

Duty	Institution	Duration (Year - Year)
Biochemistry Lecturer	Al Farabi Medical College	2010-2016
Teacher Assistant	Yarmouk University	2002-2005

Foreign Languages	Reading comprehension	Speaking*	Writing*	
English	6	6.5	5.5	

Foreign Language Examination Grade [⊥]								
YDS	UDS	IELTS	TOEFL	TOEFL	TOEFL	FCE	CAE	CPE
			IBI	PBT	CBT			
		6.0						

Computer Knowledge

Program	Use proficiency		
very good			

*Evaluate as very good, good, moderate, poor.

CONFERENCES AND SYMPOSIUM:

Presentations and Abstract: S-101

L. Sawalha et al., (2021, 27-30 October). Enzalutamide, An Androgen Receptor Antagonist, Overcomes Chemoresistance By Sensitizing Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cells To Apoptosis. [paper presentation]. TBS International Biochemistry Congress 2021,32nd National Biochemistry Congress; Gaziantep, Turkey

EMBO/EMBL Symposium: The Non-Coding Genome (6072)-(Fri, 2021,15 October); Heidelberg, Germany, mi-R26b and Androgen Receptor Inhibitor Overcome Chemoresistance By Sensitizing Triple Breast Cancer Cells To Apoptosis

TRAINING AND OTHER CERTIFICATES

Bioinformatics Fall School 2018-2019 Excellence In Laboratory Quality Management Workshop Experimental Animal Models Course: From Gene To Function. Preparing For ISO 15189 for Clinical Laboratories Introduction to E-Learning Practical Sessions and Skills Training Exam Question Banking and Test Construction Item Analysis, Result Analysis and Normalization Of Scores Course Report Workshop The Construction of MCQS Blueprinting Problem Based Learning (PBL) The Facilitation of Small Group Sessions Managing the Integrated Curriculum **Development Teaching Methods Teaching Methods Assessment Teaching Portfolio**